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Points for consideration.

There are 6 Commercial Law tutorials in total.

i.e.  2 based on Contract, 1 based on the Law of Agency, 1 based on the Law of Partnership and 2 based on Delict.

Please note that all tutorials will run weekly from weeks 4 – 10 inclusive.
Aim

The aim and purpose of tutorials is to give the student an opportunity to expand on the main areas and topics within the module. 

Tutorials are compulsory in accordance with university policy and students who are unable to attend must contact their tutors or course co-ordinator as soon as possible to avoid potential withdrawal from the module. Tutorial attendance will be recorded and monitored.
Preparation

Students should attempt the tutorial examples as given by ‘reading around the topic’. This can be achieved using the course handouts, academic literature, personal research etc. If you have any difficulties either in terms of the materials used or the concepts being highlighted please contact your course co-ordinator as soon as possible in order to obtain further academic support.

Contact information

yvonne.mclaren@btinternet.com or yvonne.mclaren@hw.ac.uk
Or

Mobile 07850 176781
Section 1- The Law of Contract
Tutorial 1

Section A – Theory

1. What are the essential elements of any contract?

2. What are the courts within the Scottish Civil Court Structure?
3. What are the courts within the Scottish Criminal Court Structure?

4. What are the main sources of Scots Law?

Section B – Practical

5. Larry Armstrong runs a small business manufacturing and repairing bicycles in Glasgow. Business is booming and he is now looking to move into bigger premises, providing he can afford the rent.

Duncan is a well known landlord in the area and he has promised to keep the offer open for 2 weeks while Larry makes up his mind. A couple of days later, while complaining about his finances Larry’s elderly uncle Floyd tells him that when he dies, his money worries will be over as he is intending to make Larry his sole beneficiary under the terms of his will.
A week later, Uncle Floyd drops dead and thinking he could now afford the bigger premises Larry telephones Duncan to accept his offer, but was told the premises had been let to someone else. A further blow is that he has now discovered that his uncle has left him nothing in his will preferring to leave all his estate to the local cat and dog home.

Larry is now seeking your legal advice. Advise Larry whether he has any basis for a claim against either Duncan the landlord or his uncle Floyd.

6. Ricky Branston, who is 17 years old, earns a living by selling Cd’s and DVD’s etc from a market stall which he owns. After a long day on the stall he is in his local pub, where he always gets served from the bar staff without any trouble as he looks around age 20 when he meets Simone Cowbell, a music representative for an obscure music label. Simone persuades Ricky to sign a contract under which Ricky agrees to take 100,000 Cd’s of a new boy band called ‘Boys with no Tone’, on a non-refundable basis. In the first month Ricky sells only 3 of the Cd’s and has made a considerable loss.
Can Ricky be held to the contract?

7. Stephanie, a high flying solicitor is searching for a new legal secretary for her firm. She hears that Mary an experienced secretary currently working for another firm, wishes to change her job. Stephanie telephones Mary and asks her if she would be interested in working for her and what salary would she accept. Mary tells her that the lowest salary she would accept is £20,000 a year. Stephanie says to Mary that she accepts Mary’s terms and tells her she is expecting her to start working for her on the 1st of January.
Advise Mary, who has no intention of working for Stephanie whether she can be held to any contract.

8. Laurence, a local art dealer advertises in several magazines that an auction of modern art, including works by several well known and celebrated artists will be held at the George Hotel in Edinburgh , on September 5th.Rose, a London based art dealer, attends on the day of the auction only to discover that it has been cancelled at the last minute. Rose has spent a considerable amount of money and time on attending the auction and has now contacted you in order to determine whether she has any right of action against Laurence.
Advise Rose

Section 1- The Law of Contract

Tutorial 2 
Section A – Theory

1. What are the main differences between mutual, common error
2. Explain what we mean by innocent, negligent and fraudulent misrepresentation.
Section B – Practical

3. Mr Cheep as Chips is a well known antique dealer. He has had 3 dining chairs made into an 18th Century pattern and artificially aged. Later he then displayed the chairs in his shop along with 3 genuine 18th Century chairs and offered them as a set with a ticket price of £10,000.

Mr Muggings who bought the chairs has now discovered that 3 of them are not genuine antiques and is claiming his money back. Mr Cheep as Chips is refusing to pay him the money, insisting that he never actually told him all the chairs were antique.
Advise Mr Muggings
4. The Balerno Bus Company (BBC) runs a bus service between Heriot Watt University and the centre of Edinburgh. Bill and Ben, the original owners of BBC, sold the business to Scottish Transport  Vehicles (STV) under a contract which included a clause ‘prohibiting them from operating or being concerned in the management of buses or any other transport services anywhere in Scotland for a time period of 5years’
It is now 2 years since the sale and Bill and Ben have just set up a service to operate between Glasgow University and Glasgow Airport. STV are now threatening to go to court to enforce the terms of the contract
Advise Bill and Ben

5. Jimmy Olive, formerly a senior chef at the Salmonella Cafe, had a clause in his contract of employment which prevents him from working anywhere in the restaurant business for 2 years after leaving his employment. Jimmy has now left the cafe and has opened a restaurant across the road.
Will the owners of the cafe be able to enforce the clause?
6. Yvonne is a ‘gangster rap’ connoisseur. She buys a ticket to see Eminem at a theatre in Edinburgh. On the evening of the performance she is furious to discover that the Musselburgh Pipe Band has been substituted at the last minute. Then, during the performance, a section of rotten floor gives way, precipitating her and several others into the stalls, as a result of which she breaks, her leg.
On complaining to the management, her attention is drawn to conditions on the back of the ticket. One of these exempts the theatre from liability for injury caused to patrons from any cause whatsoever, and the other allows the promoters to substitute different artistes without notice. On the front of the ticket there is a sentence which reads ‘For conditions see back’
Advise Yvonne:

a. If these conditions have been validly incorporated in to the contract and 
b. If they have, the effectiveness of each in excluding liability.
7. Bedrock Superstores entered into a contract with movie star Pebbles Flintstone, that Pebbles would open their new mega-store on September the 1st at 12noon. On August the 1st Pebble’s agent informed Bedrock Superstores that she would not be appearing to open their mega-store as she has now agreed to appear in a Broadway play on that date
Advise Bedrock Superstores.

Section 1- The Law of Contract 
Important/Relevant Cases

     1.   Gray v Johnston 1928 SC 569 

         Gray claimed that Johnston had proposed to him that, if he went to live with Johnston and 
         looked after him, he would make Gray his heir. Gray did so but Johnston died without 
         leaving Gray his property. The court dismissed Gray’s claim, saying that what Johnston 
         had said was nothing more than an expression of intention. There was no enforceable 
         promise. 
  

     2.   Burr v Commissioners of Bo’ness (1896) 24R 148 

          At a meeting of the Commissioners it was resolved that the salary of Burr, the burgh 
         sanitary inspector, should be increased from £10 to £20 a year. Burr was not officially told 
         of this, but he did hear of it from someone else. At another meeting a month later the 
         Commissioners cancelled the resolution. 
         Held: Burr was not entitled to the increased salary. He could not rely on the resolution 
         because it had not been properly intimated to him. 
  

     3.   Smith v Oliver 1911 SC 103 

          Trustees for a church brought an action against the executors of Mrs. Oliver for payment 
         of the cost of structural alterations to the church. They claimed that Mrs. Oliver had urged 
         them to have the work done and had promised to leave a bequest in her will to pay for it, 
         but she had failed to do so. 
         Held: The promise of the bequest could only be proved by Mrs. Oliver's writ. Lord 
         President Dunedin said: “There is in truth no contract at all averred here, merely a promise 
         to pay. And if that is so, I suppose that it is well settled law that a gratuitous promise to 
         pay can be proved only by writ.” 
  

     4.   Edinburgh and District Tramways Co Ltd v Courtenay 1905 SC 99 

         The pursuers had let to an advertising contractor the right to display advertisements on 
         their vehicles. Under the terms of the contract, the advertising contractor had to supply 
         the fittings. The company obtained new vehicles which already had the required fittings. 
         The contractor was thus saved some expense and the company claimed an additional sum 
         by way of recompense. 
         Held: The claim failed because the tramway company had lost nothing by the advertising 
         contractor’s gain. 
  

     5.   Varney (Scotland) Ltd v Burgh of Lanark 1974 SC 245 

         Building contractors had built a housing development in Lanark. The Burgh of Lanark 
         was unwilling to build the necessary sewers for the development, so the developers built 
         them and claimed the cost of the construction from the Burgh, by way of recompense. 
         Held: The contractors were not entitled to recompense because they had another legal 
         remedy available to them. They should have brought an action for specific implement 
         under the Burgh Police (Scotland) Act 1892, under which the Burgh was under a legal 
         obligation to build the sewers. 
  

     6.   J Loudon & Co v Elder’s Curator Bonis 1923 SLT 226 (OH) 

         Elder, a Dundee merchant, ordered goods from Loudon on March 23 and 28. On March 
         31, before any of the goods were delivered, Elder was certified insane and on April 1 
         Loudon were informed that the contracts were cancelled. The company sued Elder’s 
         curator bonis for damages for breach of contract. Elder was proved to have been insane 
         at the time the orders were given. 
         Held: There was no liability for breach of contract as the orders were null and void. 
  

     7.   Taylor v Provan (1864) 2 M 1226 

         Provan went to Taylor’s farm and offered to buy 31 cattle at £14 per head, but Taylor 
         refused to accept less than £15. After trying unsuccessfully to purchase cattle elsewhere, 
         Provan returned to Taylor’s farm the worse for drink and offered £15 per head, which was 
         accepted by Taylor. Taylor later brought an action against Provan for the price of the 
         cattle, and Provan claimed that he had been incapable, through intoxication, of entering 
         into the contract. 
         Held: There was no evidence to suggest that Provan was totally incapacitated through 
         drink, to the extent that he was unable to understand what he was doing. The contract was   valid. 
  

     8.   Pollock v Burns (1875) 2 R 497 

         Pollock, described as a “habitual drunkard”, brought an action to try to suspend a charge 
         on a bill of exchange he alleged he had signed when incapable through drink. 
         Held: Pollock could not successfully challenge the bill, as he had waited until six months 
         after the bill became due. 
  

     

9.   Fisher v Bell [1961] 1 QB 394 

         The Restriction of Offensive Weapons Act 1959 made it an offence to sell, hire or offer 
         for sale knives such as flick knives. Bell had a flick knife with a price ticket attached to 
         it displayed in the window of his shop and he was prosecuted under the Act. 
         Held: Bell was not guilty of an offence. The display was an invitation to treat and did not 
         amount to an offer to sell. 
  

     10.  Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain v Boots Cash Chemists [1953] 1 All ER 482 

         The defendant’s branch at Edgeware was adapted to a self-service system whereby 
         customers selected goods from the shelves and took them to a cash desk to pay the price. 
         One section of the shelves was set out with drugs included in the poisons list referred to 
         in s.17 of the Pharmacy and Poisons Act 1933, though they were not dangerous drugs and 
         did not require a doctor’s prescription. Section 18 of that Act required the sale of such 
         drugs to take place in the presence of a pharmacist. All sales of drugs on the poisons list 
         were supervised at the cash desk by a pharmacist. The Society, which had a duty to 
         enforce the Act, brought an action against Boots on the basis that the display of the drugs 
         constituted an offer, which the customer accepted when he selected goods from the 
         shelves. The sale was thus completed without supervision. 
         Held: The display of drugs on the shelves was not an offer but an invitation to treat. The 
         contract was made when the assistant at the cash desk accepted the customer’s offer to 
         buy what had been chosen. The presence of the pharmacist at the cash desk fulfilled the 
         requirements for supervision under the Act. 
  

     11.  Harvey v Facey [1893] AC 552 

         Harvey sent a telegram to Facey: “Will you sell Bumper Hall Pen, telegraph lowest cash 
         price.” Facey replied with a telegram: “Lowest cash price Bumper Hall Pen £900.” Harvey 
         purported to accept this offer but Facey did not respond. Harvey sued. 
         Held: There was no contract. Facey’s telegram was not an offer but a reply to an inquiry. 
  

     12.  Carlill v Carbolic Smoke ball Co [1893] 1 QB 256 

          Defendants were proprietors of a medical preparation called “The Carbolic Smoke Ball”. 
         They advertised in a number of newspapers that they would pay £100 to anyone who 
         contracted influenza after using the ball three times a day for two weeks. Mrs. Carlill used 
         the ball as advertised and caught flu. She sued for the £100 promised by the 
         advertisement. Various defences were raised; in particular it was claimed that the 
         advertisement was not intended to constitute an offer, since it would amount to an attempt 
         to contract with the whole world, which was impossible. 
         Held: There was a binding contract. The advertisement was an offer to the whole world, 
         which was accepted by those who fulfilled the conditions. Mrs. Carlill had fulfilled the 
         conditions, and was thus entitled to be paid the £100. 

    

 13.  Hunter v General Accident Fire and Life Assurance Corporation 1909 SC (HL) 30 

         A coupon in a Letts diary stated that £1000 would be paid to the executors of any owner 
         of the diary fatally injured in a railway accident provided that the owner had registered at 
         the insurance company’s head office and provided that the claim was made within 12 
         months of registration. Hunter applied for registration on 25/12/05 and on 03/01/06 
         received a letter of acknowledgment dated 29/12/05. He was fatally injured in a railway 
         accident on 28/12/06 and died the following day. His executrix claimed under the policy 
         on 03/01/07. The company denied liability on the grounds that the date of registration had 
         been 27/12/05. 
         Held: The burden of proof was on the insurance company to show the date of registration 
         and on the balance of probabilities this date was after the sending of the acknowledgment 
         on 03/01/06. Lord Kinnear thought it made no difference to the existence of a contract 
         that the offer had been made by general advertisement: “when a general offer addressed 
         to the public is appropriated to himself by a distinct acceptance by one person, then it is 
         to be read in exactly the same way as if it had been addressed to that individual originally.” 
  

     14.  Glasgow, Newcastle and Middleborough Steam Shipping Co v Watson (1873 1 R 
             189 
         Watson offered to supply coal to the pursuers on August 5 1871. The supply was to be 
         for one year at 7s per ton. The parties subsequently entered into negotiations and on 
         October 13 1871 the shipping company purported to accept the offer. The price of coal 
         had then risen by 2s per ton and Watson refused to recognise the existence of a contract. 
         The shipping company sued for damages for breach of contract. 
         Held: There was no contract. The offer of August 5 was no longer open for acceptance 
         on October 13, but had lapsed through passage of time. 
  

     15.  Wolf & Wolf v Forfar Potato Co 1984 SLT 100 

          The defenders sent a telex dated 29/11/77 to the pursuers in Amsterdam, offering to sell 
          a specific quantity of potatoes, the offer to remain open until 17.00 hours the following 
         day. The pursuers replied by telex stating that they accepted the offer, and then varying certain 
         of its terms. After a telephone conversation with the defenders, the pursuers sent a further 
         telex, still within the time limit, accepting the defender’s original offer, though requesting 
         that additional points be given consideration. The defenders did not supply the potatoes 
         and were sued for damages. 
         Held: The defenders could not be liable for breach of contract as there was no contract. 
         The terms of the pursuer’s original “acceptance” did not meet the terms of the offer and 
         therefore constituted a counter-offer. This had the effect of making the original offer 
         lapse. The time limit, which was part of that original offer, lapsed at the same time. 
  

     16.  Findlater v Maan 1990 SC 150 

         On March 26, 1988, Findlater offered to buy heritable property in Glasgow. On March 
         28, Maan accepted the offer, subject to certain qualifications. On March 29, Findlater 
         accepted the qualifications, subject to further qualifications. On March 30, Maan, referring 
         to the offer of March 26 and their qualified acceptance of March 28, intimated a further 
         qualification. On 6 April, Findlater accepted the terms of that letter and withdrew the 
         qualifications contained in his own letter of March 29. On 7 April, Maan wrote that he 
         was withdrawing from the missives. Findlater raised an action of declarator that a contract 
         had been completed. 
         Held: There was a contract. The letters of March 29 and March 30 amounted to two co- 
         existing offers. Findlater’s letter of April 6 was an acceptance of Man’s offer of March 
         30 and a withdrawal of his own offer of March 29. 
  

     17.  Butler Machine Tool Co Ltd v Ex-Cell-O Corporation (England) Ltd 1979 1 WLR 
             401 
         Butler offered to supply a machine to Ex-Cell-O, the offer stating that supply was to be 
         on Butler’s standard terms and conditions. The terms and conditions were printed on the 
         back of the form and included, inter alia, a clause allowing Butler to vary the price to that 
         prevailing on the date of delivery. The form also stated that Butler’s terms and conditions 
         were to prevail over those of the buyer. 
         Ex-Cell-O placed an order for the machine on its own standard order form, which had a 
         tear-off acknowledgement slip which acknowledged acceptance of the order on the 
         buyer’s terms and conditions. Butler signed and returned this slip. When the machine was 
         delivered, Butler tried to claim an extra £2,900 under the variation clause in its standard 
         terms. 
         Held: Butler could not alter the contract price. The conditions on the order form 
         amounted to a counter-offer which rejected Butler’s original offer. The counter-offer had 
         been accepted by Butler when the acknowledgement was returned. 
  

     18.  Jacobsen Sons & Co v Underwood & Son Ltd (1894) 21 R 654 

          On March 2 Underwood offered to buy straw from Jacobsen, the offer stating that it was 
          to remain open until 6 March. On 6 March, Jacobsen wrote and posted an acceptance of 
          the offer, but this was not delivered to Underwood until March 7. Underwood claimed 
         there was no contract because the acceptance had not reached them until after the stated 
         date and they refused to accept the straw when Jacobsen tried to deliver it. 
         Held: Because the acceptance was concluded at the time it was posted, the offer had been 
         accepted in time and there was a contract. 
  

     19.  Thomson v James (1855) 18 D 1 

         On November 26, 1853, James posted an offer to Thomson to purchase the estate of 
         Renniston for £6,400. On December 1 Thomson posted a letter of acceptance, but on the 
         same day James had posted a letter withdrawing the offer. Both letters were delivered on 
         December 2. 
         Held: A binding contract had been formed. Lord President McNeill said: “..A simple 
         unconditional offer may be recalled at any time before acceptance, and it may be so 
         recalled by a letter transmitted by post, but I hold that the mere posting of a letter of recall 
         does not make that letter effectual as a recall so as from the moment of posting...I am 
         of the opinion that the act of acceptance was completed by the putting of the letter into 
         the post office; and that a letter of recall, which did not arrive until after that act, cannot 
         be held to have interrupted the completion of the contract.” 
  

     20.  Felthouse v Bindley (1862) 11 CB (NS) 869 

          Felthouse had been negotiating with his nephew John for the purchase of John’s horse, 
         but there had been some misunderstanding about the price. Eventually, Felthouse wrote 
         to his nephew saying: “If I hear no more I shall consider him mine at £30 15s. The nephew 
         did not reply, but wishing to sell the horse to his uncle, told the defendant, an auctioneer 
         who was selling farm stock for him, not to sell the horse as it had already been sold. The 
         auctioneer accidentally put the horse up for auction with the rest of the stock and sold it. 
         Felthouse now sued the auctioneer on the basis that he had sold a horse which belonged 
         to Felthouse. 
         Held: The horse did not belong to Felthouse. Because the nephew had not communicated 
         his acceptance to his uncle, and his silence could not be taken as acceptance, there was 
         no contract. 
  

     21.  Balfour v Balfour [1919] 2 KB 571 

          The defendant was a civil servant stationed in Ceylon. In November 1915 he came to 
         England on leave with his wife, the plaintiff in the action. In August 1916 he returned to 
         Ceylon without his wife, who had been advised by her doctor to stay in England. The 
         plaintiff claimed that, before he returned, her husband had agreed to give her £30 a month   as maintenance and she was suing on the basis that he had failed to abide by the 
         agreement. 
         Held: There was no enforceable contract because in this sort of situation it must be 
         assumed that the parties did not intend to create legal relations. In any case, the provision 
         for a flat payment of £30 per month for an indefinite period without any provision to take 
         into account changes in the circumstances of the parties did not suggest a binding 
         agreement. This was purely a domestic agreement. 
  

     22.  Merritt v Merritt [1970] 2 All ER 760 

         A husband left his wife for another woman and, during a meeting which took place in his 
         car, he agreed to pay his wife £40 a month. He also wrote out and signed a document 
         which stated that, if his wife paid the mortgage on their jointly owned house, he would 
         transfer the property to her sole ownership. The wife paid off the mortgage but the 
         husband did not transfer his share of the property to her, so she sought a court order to 
         make him do so. The husband’s defence was that this was a domestic arrangement which 
         was not intended to be legally binding. 
         Held: The agreement was enforceable. It had been made when the parties were no longer 
         living as husband and wife and was thus distinguishable from Balfour v Balfour. The 
         evidence was that the parties intended to be legally bound. 
  

     23.  Forbes v Eden (1867) 5 M (HL) 36 

          Forbes was minister of the Episcopal Church at Burnt Island. He brought an action against 
         the Synod of the church, claiming that certain canons recently enacted by them should be 
         set aside. He averred that the new canons were in violation of ones in force when he was 
         ordained and were therefore injurious to him. 
         Held: The action was irrelevant. Forbes had no patrimonial interest to protect and had 
         made no averment of damage. 
  

     24.  Murdison v Scottish Football Union (1896) 23 R 449 

          The football union passed a resolution to suspend an amateur, unpaid footballer from 
          playing. The pursuer appealed to the court to overturn the decision. 
          Held: The pursuer had no legally enforceable rights because there was no patrimonial 
         interest involved. Lord Kinnear said (at page 466) “If he complains not of the defamation 
         but of the fact that people would not play football with him, that does not appear to me 
         to be a legal wrong or an invasion of any legal right. Nobody has a right which he can 
         enforce at law to compel other people to play a game of football with him...Agreements 
         to associate for purposes of recreation, or an agreement to associate for scientific or 
         philanthropical or social or religious purposes are not agreements which Courts of law can 
         enforce. They are entirely personal, Therefore, in order to establish a civil wrong from the 
         refusal to carry out such an agreement...it is necessary to see that the pursuer has offered 
         some practical injury either in his reputation or in his property. No averment of that kind 
         is made.” 
  

   

  25.  Rose & Frank v Crompton [1925] AC 445 

         The parties had a written agreement which gave Rose & Frank the exclusive right to sell 
         Crompton’s products in the USA. The agreement expressly stated that it was not intended 
         to be legally enforceable in either the USA or UK, and claimed to be merely an 
         “honourable pledge” of intention. After 6 years, Crompton terminated the arrangement 
         without giving the agreed notice period and Rose & Frank sued for damages. 
         Held: As the agreement clearly expressed that it was not intended to be legally binding, 
         Crompton was not liable in damages. 
  

     26.  Kleinwort Bensen Ltd v Malaysia Mining Corporation [1989] 1 WLR 379 

         The plaintiff bank agreed with the defendants that they would provide the defendant’s 
         wholly owned subsidiary, MMC Metals, with a loan facility of up to £10 million. The 
         defendants gave the plaintiffs two letters which stated that: “It is our policy to ensure that 
         the business of MCC is at all times in a position to meet its liabilities under the 
         arrangements.” 
         In 1985, the market collapsed and MCC went into liquidation owing the entire £10 
         million. The bank tried to recover from Malaysia Mining on the basis of the letters. 
         Held: The letters contained a statement of policy and intention and did not intend to be 
         legally bound to honour the debt. The bank had been asked to formally guarantee the debt 
         but had refused to do so, and this indicated that it did not intend to be legally bound. 
  

     27.  Morrison-Low v Paterson 1985 SLT 255 

          Morrison-Low owned a farm which had been leased to Thomas Paterson, who died in 
         1973. Paterson’s two sons continued in occupation of the farm, paying rent, etc, until 
         1979, when Morrison-Low brought an action to remove them. After Thomas Paterson’s 
         death, a solicitor acting for both his sons and the landlord advised them that the sons had 
         a right to continue in occupation of the farm. In 1976, Morrison-Low had been advised 
         by another solicitor that this was not the case, but he continued to accept rent and hold 
         rent reviews until 1979. 
         Held: In allowing the sons to remain on the farm and accepting rent from them, Morrison- 
         Low was personally barred from denying the existence of a new lease, even though 
         nothing was formally written. 
  

     28.  Anderson v The Beacon Fellowship 1992 SLT 111 

         The Fellowship, a religious association, rented a hall from Anderson and in 1985 entered 
         into missives to purchase it. Representatives of the organisation visited Anderson and 
         allegedly pressed their religious practice upon him. Anderson gave a number of donations 
         to the association and he now sought to have them repaid, on the basis that they had been 
         obtained by fraud and circumvention while he was in a weak and facile condition. He 
         claimed that, at the time, he had been suffering from serious illness and depression, and 
         that the fellowship had put considerable pressure on him. 
         Held: This pressure was sufficient to amount to circumvention and, if proved, would 
         invalidate the transaction. 
  

     29.  McGilvary v Gilmartin 1986 SLT 89 

          The pursuer disponed to the defender, her daughter, a house which she, the pursuer, had 
         inherited from her own father and which she had always intended to give to her son. Mrs. 
         McGilvary averred that in 1980, her daughter had come to stay with her and her husband, 
         who died shortly afterwards. The death left Mrs. McGilvary in a weak physical and mental 
         state. She claimed that, while she was in this condition, her daughter took her to a 
         solicitor’s office and persuaded her to sign over the property. 
         Held: This was sufficient to amount to circumvention. There was no need to prove actual 
         fraud. 
  
     30.  Gray v Binny (1879) 7 R 332 

          Gray, who was aged 24 and heir under a deed of entail, executed a deed by which he 
         parted with his rights in an estate for very much less than the true value. He was 
         persuaded to enter the agreement by his mother and her legal advisor Binny, to whom she 
         was deeply in debt. The mother died soon afterwards and Gray brought an action for 
         reduction. The court reduced the agreement on the basis that Gray had been unduly 
         influenced by his mother. “It seems to me to be very clear that a deed so prejudicial to the 
         granter, and obtained in such circumstances, cannot, when challenged, be allowed to 
         stand. (Lord Shand). 
  

     31.  Earl of Orkney v Vinfra (1606) Mor.16,481 

          The Earl brought a claim against Vinfra for payment of 2,000 merks on the basis of a 
          written contract signed by Vinfra. Vinfra contended that the contract was null and void 
          because his signature had been induced by force and fear. He claimed that he had been 
         summoned to the Earl’s castle and that the Earl had ordered him to sign the contract, 
         which had already been signed by the Earl. Vinfra refused, whereupon the Earl drew his 
         sword and threatened to kill Vinfra if he did not sign. 
         Held: The contract was void having been induced by fear of force. 
  

     32.  Dawson v Muir (1851) 13 D 843 

          Dawson entered into a contract to buy from Muir some vats which were sunk into the 
         ground. Both parties thought the vats were empty and Dawson paid around £2 for them. 
         In fact, the vats were later discovered to contain white lead which was worth around 
         £300. The seller tried to have the contract reduced on the grounds of error. 
         Held: This was common error and the contract was valid. 

     33.  Muirhead & Turnbull v Dickson (1905) 13 SLT 151 

          Muirhead & Turnbull supplied a piano to Dickson at a price of £26 to be paid at 15s per 
         month. Dickson fell behind with the payments and the pursuers wished to take back the 
         piano. They did so on the basis that either there was no contract between the parties, 
         because there was no consensus, or that the contract was one of hire purchase, so that in 
         either case the ownership of the piano remained with Muirhead & Turnbull. Dickson 
         claimed that the contract was one of sale by instalments, so that ownership of the piano 
         had passed to Dickson. 
         Held: Muirhead and Turnbull had intended to make a contract of hire-purchase and 
         Dickson had intended to make a contract of purchase paid by instalments, but on the 
         evidence Dickson was justified in his understanding of the contract. The pursuer’s action 
         for redelivery of the piano failed, the correct remedy being for the unpaid instalments. 
  

     34.  Raffles v Wichelhaus (1864) 2 H&C 906 

          The defendant agreed to buy cotton from the plaintiff, the contract providing that it was 
         to arrive “ex Peerless“. In fact, there were two ships of that name, both sailing from 
         Bombay with a cargo of cotton, one sailing in October and one in December. The buyer 
         thought his cotton was to be shipped in October, but the seller intended to ship the cotton 
         on the Peerless sailing in December. 
         Held: There was no contract because there was no consensus in idem. This was mutual 
         error and the court could find no reason for preferring one party’s interpretation to the 
others. 
  

     35.  Royal Bank of Scotland v Purvis 1990 SLT 262 

          The bank sued the defender as guarantor of her husband’s debts to the bank. She tried to 
         have the guarantee reduced on the grounds that she had signed it at her husband’s request,   she had not read the document or had it explained to her and she had no formal education  and was unfamiliar with commercial documents. The bank claimed that her error was  unilateral and had not been induced by the bank. She claimed the guarantee was void as 
         she had been in error about the nature of the document she was signing. 
         Held: The contract was valid. The bank had not induced the error. Lord McCluskey said: 
         “The law does not permit her to say that, because she did not take the trouble to read the 
         document or ask for an explanation or to postpone signing it until she got one, she can 
         now say that she thought the obligations she was undertaking were different from the ones 
         which the document imposed upon her.” 
  

     36.  Krupp v John Menzies Ltd 1907 SC 903 

          An agreement drawn up between Menzies, as owners of a hotel, and Mrs. Krupp, as 
          manageress of the hotel, stated that Mrs. Krupp was to receive one fifth of the profits of 
         the business in addition to her salary. After five years she brought an action for payment 
         of the share of the profits. Menzies claimed that the verbal agreement between the parties  had been that Mrs. Krupp was to receive one twentieth of the net profits and that the use    of the words “one-fifth” was the result of an error by a clerk who had been given a style 
         agreement in which the share of profits was given as “one tenth” and told that Mrs. Krupp 
         was to receive half that amount. It was held that Menzies should be allowed to bring 
         parole evidence to prove their averments so that the clerical error could be rectified. 
  

     37.  Flynn v Scott 1949 SC 442 (OH) 

          Flynn bought a second-hand Bedford van from Scott, which Scott stated to be in good 
         running order. The van broke down a week later and Flynn told Scott he was rejecting the 
         van and repudiating the contract on the grounds that he had been induced to enter it 
         because of Scott’s misrepresentation.. 
         Held: Scott’s statement was an expression of opinion and not a misrepresentation entitling 
         Flynn to repudiate the contract. 
  

     38.  Smith v Land and House Property Corporation (1885) 28 Ch D 7 

          Smith owned a hotel which he put up for sale, the particulars stating that the hotel was 
         leased for the next 27 years to a Mr. Fleck, who was described as “a most desirable 
         tenant”. The corporation bought the hotel, but before completion Fleck became bankrupt 
         and the corporation refused to complete the purchase. Smith sued for specific 
         performance. It was shown that the tenant had not paid the most recent quarter’s rent, and 
         that the previous quarter’s rent had only been paid after the landlord threatened 
         proceedings against him. The corporation claimed that they only entered into the contract 
         because of the statement that Fleck was a desirable tenant, and that Smith knew this to 
         be untrue. 
         Held: Specific performance would not be granted. The description of Fleck as a desirable 
         tenant implied that Smith knew nothing to suggest that he was not. In fact Smith knew he 
         was not a desirable tenant and this was a misrepresentation. 
  

     39.  Gibson v National Cash Register Co Ltd 1925 SC 500 

          Gibson brought an action against NCR on the ground that the company had sold him two 
         cash registers and fraudulently concealed the fact that they were not new. Gibson was able   to prove that he had wished to buy new machines and the company had held itself out as 
         manufacturing and selling new machines. He also showed that the machines he was 
         supplied with were secondhand but made to look like new by reconditioning. 
         Held: Gibson had made out a prima-facie case of fraudulent concealment. 
  

40.  Horsfall v Thomas (1862) 1 H&C 90 

          The seller of a gun concealed the fact that it had a serious manufacturing defect by 
         plugging the barrel. He failed to disclose this to the purchaser, who later tried to have the 
         contract set aside on the basis of misrepresentation by fraudulent concealment. 
         Held: The contract was valid. Although the actions of the seller amounted to fraudulent 
         concealment, the buyer had not examined the gun before purchasing it, so the seller’s 
         misrepresentation had not induced the contract. 
  

     41.  The “Spathari” 1925 SC (HL) 6 

          Demetriades, a Greek shipbroker living in Glasgow, bought the SS Spathari with the 
         intention of selling her to a Greek syndicate in Samos. Demetriades made arrangements 
         with a Glasgow shipbroker called Borthwick that the ship should be transferred to 
         Borthwick and registered and insured in his name, then sailed to Samos and there 
         transferred to Demetriades. At the time Borthwick insured the ship, Greek ships were 
         regarded as uninsurable, or only insurable for high premiums. Borthwick did not disclose 
         to the insurance company Demetriades interest in the ship. The ship sank off the coast of 
         Portugal and the insurers refused to pay. 
         Held: The insurance contract was void because of Borthwick’s failure to disclose a 
         material fact. 
  

     42.  Boyd & Forrest v Glasgow and South Western Railway Co 1912 SC (HL) 93; 1915 
             SC (HL) 20 

          The railway company invited tenders for construction of part of a railway line, and they 
         showed to intending offerors a journal of bores supposedly taken along the proposed 
         route. Boyd & Forrest won the tender, but when the work was in progress they 
         discovered more rock and hard ground than had been indicated by the journal of bores. 
         The data in the journal had been altered by one of the railway company’s engineers, in the 
         honest belief that some of the information supplied by the borers was incorrect. After 
         completing the work, Boyd & Forrest sued the railway company for more than £100,000, 
         the extra costs they had incurred on the contract, on the basis that they had been induced 
         to enter the contract through the engineer’s fraudulent misrepresentation. 
         Held: There was no fraud - the engineer had only altered the information where he 
         honestly believed it to be incorrect. 
         The railway company then sued for the extra cost in damages, on the grounds that they 
         had entered into the contract under essential error induced by innocent misrepresentation. 
         Held: There had been no misrepresentation. Further, if there was misrepresentation, Boyd 
         & Forrest had failed to prove that it induced them to enter into the contract and, if it had, 
         damages were not payable for innocent misrepresentation and the fact that restitutio in 
         integrum was impossible excluded the remedy of reduction. 
  

     43.  Esso Petroleum v Mardon 

          The parties were negotiating the lease of a petrol station. In the course of the negotiations,  one of Esso’s employees, with 40 years experience of the trade, negligently 
         misrepresented the likely sale of petrol from the station as 200,000 gallons per year. 
         Mardon relied on this in entering the contract, which proved financially disastrous for him, 
         with petrol sales reaching only 78,000 gallons in the first 15 months. Mardon claimed 
         damages for negligent misrepresentation, while Esso argued that the statement had only 
         been the expression of an opinion. 
         Held: Esso had the necessary knowledge and skill to make such a statement, and had a 
         duty of care to ensure the statement was reasonably correct. They were liable. 
  
     44.  Morrisson v Robertson 1908 SC 332 

          Morrisson had taken two cows to market for sale. He was approached by a man called 
         Telford, who falsely claimed to be the son of Wilson, a farmer with whom Morrisson had 
         had business dealings on a number of occasions. Telford claimed that he wished to buy 
         the cows on behalf of his father and Morrisson let him take the cows on credit. Telford 
         then sold the cows to Robertson, who bought them in good faith. Morrisson brought an 
         action against Robertson in an attempt to recover the cows. 
         Held: The contract between Morrisson and Telford was void ab initioowing to 
         Morrison’s essential error as to the identity of the person with whom he was contracting. 
         Telford could not therefore give title to the cows to Robertson, and Morrisson was 
         entitled to reclaim them. 
  

     45.  Macleod v Kerr 1965 SC 253 

          Kerr advertised his Vauxhall car for sale. A man called Galloway answered the 
         advertisement, giving his name as Craig, and he wrote a cheque in the name of Craig to 
         pay for the car. The next day Kerr discovered that the cheque came from a stolen 
         chequebook and he informed the police. In the meantime, Galloway, giving his name as 
         Kerr, sold the car to Gibson, who owned a garage. The police took possession of the car 
         from Gibson and Galloway was convicted of theft and fraud. The procurator fiscal 
         brought an action of multiple poinding to determine who was entitled to the car. 
         Held: The contract between Kerr and Galloway was not void through essential error but 
         was voidable. As it had not actually been avoided at the time of the sale to Gibson, Gibson 
         got good title to the car. 
  

     46.  Barr v Crawford 1983 SLT 481 (OH) 

          Mr. and Mrs. Barr owned a bar in Falkirk. Owing to Mr. Barr’s ill-health they put the bar 
         up for sale. The bar licence was up for renewal by the local licensing board. Crawford, 
         then provost of Falkirk and another person indicated to Mrs. Barr that the licence would 
         be refused for a year. She was alarmed, as sale of the bar was imminent. Mrs. Barr claimed 
         that she was told by the defender that 10 people would have to be “bought” at a cost of 
         £10,000. She stated that she had handed over £8,000 in banknotes to the defenders. When 
         she claimed for the return of the alleged payments, the defenders argued that the 
         relationship was tainted with illegality and that the action was irrelevant. 
         Held: The action should be dismissed. The sum paid was a bribe and not recoverable. 
  
     47.  Pearce v Brooks (1866) LR 1 Exch 213 

          The plaintiffs were coachbuilders who agreed to sell a carriage to Brooks on hire terms, 
         with an option to purchase after payment of the final instalment. The defendant was a 
         prostitute and the carriage, which was of an attractive design, was intended to assist her 
         in obtaining clients. She paid one instalment and then returned the carriage in a damaged 
         condition, but she refused to pay the agreed penalty for the damage. One of the plaintiffs 
         agreed that he knew the defendant was a prostitute, but not that the carriage was intended 
         for use for the purposes of prostitution. The evidence showed the contrary. The jury 
         found that the plaintiff knew the purpose for which the carriage would be used and their 
         claim for the sun due failed for illegality. 
  

     48.  Archbolds Freightage Ltd v Spanglett [1961] 1 QB 374 

          Spanglett were furniture manufacturers who held “C” licences issued under the Road and 
         Rail Traffic Act 1933. The licences allowed them to use their own vans to carry their own 
         goods, but did not permit them to carry the goods of others for reward. Archbold were 
         road hauliers who, under their “A” licences, were permitted to carry other’s goods for 
         reward. Archbolds, believing that Spanglett held “A” licences, hired Spanglett to carry 
         part of a load for them. Owing to the driver’s negligence, 200 cases of whisky were 
         stolen. Archbold claimed damages for the loss of the whisky; Spanglett claimed that the 
         contract was void through illegality because they did not hold an “A” licence for the 
         vehicle. 
         Held: Spanglett was liable. The statute imposed penalties for failure to comply with 
         licence conditions, but this was not aimed at the owner of the goods. The contract itself 
         was not forbidden by the statute. 
  

     49.  Bluebell Apparel Ltd v Dickinson 1978 SC 16 

          Bluebell manufactured Wrangler jeans, selling them in around 120 countries. Dickinson 
         trained with Bluebell and became a manager at one of their factories. While there he 
         acquired knowledge of Bluebell’s methods which were unknown to their competitors. 
         Dickinson’s contract of employment contained conditions which stated that he would not 
         disclose or use any of Bluebell’s trade secrets, and that he would not enter into employment 
         with any competitor of Bluebell for a period of two years after the end of his employment. 
         Six months after joining Bluebell, Dickinson left the company to take up employment with 
         a manufacturer of Levi jeans. 
         Held: The restriction was reasonable in its scope and, as Bluebell had a legitimate interest 
         in protecting its trade secrets, the restriction would be enforced. 
  

     50.  Dumbarton Steamboat Co Ltd v Macfarlane (1899) 1 F 993 

          MacFarlane was a partner in a firm of carriers which was sold to Dumbarton Steamboat 
          Co. The partners, including MacFarlane, were to be employed by the company and 
         undertook (a) to try to obtain the firm’s customers for the company and, (b) not to carry 
         on or be concerned with any competing business in the UK for ten years. Three years later 
         MacFarlane, who had been dismissed from the company, began business on his own 
         account in Dumbarton. 
         Held: The defender could be interdicted from canvassing the customers of the former firm, 
         but the restriction against carrying on business anywhere in the UK was unreasonable and 
         therefore unenforceable, and the court would not rewrite the clause to confine it to a 
         reasonable area. 
  

     51.  Nordenfelt v Maxim Nordenfelt Guns and Ammunition Co [1894] AC 535 

          Nordenfelt sold his guns and ammunition business to a company which he set up. He 
         agreed in writing that he would not compete with the Nordenfelt company. Under the 
         agreement, he received £237,000 in cash, £50,000 in shares and remained managing 
         director of the company for 7 years at a salary of £2,000 per year and a share of the 
         profits. 
         Two years later, the company combined with the Maxim Gun and Ammunition Company. 
         Nordenfelt entered into a new covenant which provided he would not engage in the 
         business of manufacturing guns, or in any business competing with the company, 
         anywhere in the world for a period of 25 years. Nordenfelt later entered into an agreement 
         with another arms manufacturer and the company sought an injunction to prevent him. 
         Held: Although the restriction was unusually wide, the nature of the business and the 
         limited number of customers (government agencies), meant that it was necessary for the 
         protection of the company’s goodwill. Nordenfelt had received a considerable sum for the 
         business and there were no public policy reasons for refusing to uphold the restriction. 
  

     52.  Mulvein v Murray 1908 SC 528 

          Mulvein, a boot and shoe seller, hired Murray as a salesman under an agreement by which 
         Murray was bound not to sell to or canvass any of Mullein’s customers or to sell or travel 
         in any of the areas traded in by Mulvein for twelve months after his employment was 
         terminated. Murray left his employment with Mulvein and took up a job as a salesman for 
         a boot and shoe manufacturer in Ayr. Mulvein brought an action for interdict. 
         Held: The restriction on selling to or canvassing Mulleins’ customers was reasonable and 
         valid. The other part of the clause was too wide and invalid, but as the agreement was 
         severable, the courts would enforce the reasonable restriction. 
  

     53.  Inglis v Buttery & Co (1878) 5R (HL) 87 

          Buttery & Co entered into a contract with Inglis under which Inglis was to carry out 
         alterations and repairs to a steamship. The agreement was put into writing and signed by 
         both parties. The written document stated that “The plating of the hull to be carefully 
         overhauled and repaired, but if any new plating is required, the same to be paid for 
         extra“. The words in italics were deleted by having a line drawn through them, though 
         they could still be read. 
         While carrying out the work, Inglis discovered that the hull plating was so badly worn that 
         it had to be replaced. He claimed that Buttery & Co should have to pay extra for the new 
         plating. 
         Held: On an interpretation of the terms, Inglis had to supply the new plating under the 
         contract price, and the court could not look at the deleted words or at any letters which 
         had passed between the parties prior to execution of the written document in order to 
         ascertain the intentions of the parties. 
  

     54.  Olley v Marlborough Court Ltd [1949] 1 All ER 127 

          A husband and wife arrived at a hotel as guests and paid for a room in advance. One 
         of the walls of their room was a notice: “The proprietors will not hold themselves 
         responsible for articles lost or stolen unless handed to the manageress for safe custody.” 
         The wife closed the self-locking door of the bedroom and took the key down to the 
         reception desk. Owing to inadequate supervision of the keyboard, a third party took the 
         key and stole the wife’s furs. When sued, the hotel tried to rely on the notice as a term of 
         the contract. Held: The contract had been completed at the reception desk and no 
         subsequent notices could import terms into it. 
  

     55.  Thornton v Shoe Lane Parking [1971] 2 QB 163 

          A notice outside a car park stated that cars were parked at owner’s risk. Thornton, who 
         had not parked at the car park before, took a ticket from the machine at the entrance and 
         parked his car. The ticket, which Thornton did not read, stated in small print that it was 
         issued subject to conditions. The conditions, displayed on a pillar opposite the ticket 
         machine, exempted the company from liability for any injury to the customer. Thornton 
         was injured when a concrete block fell on his car. 
         Held: (a) The contract was concluded when the customer put his money in the machine, 
         and the customer could not be bound by terms contained on the ticket, because the 
         contract had already been concluded at that point. (b) Notice of the particular condition 
         on which the defendants sought to rely had not been sufficiently brought to the attention 
         of the customer, and therefore he was not bound by it. 

  
     56.  Spurling v Bradshaw [1956] 2 All ER 121 

          Spurling received goods he had ordered from Bradshaw, the goods being accompanied 
         by a sales receipt which contained terms and conditions, one of which was an exemption 
         of liability clause. The two parties had frequently dealt with each other in the past and 
         Spurling had received many similar documents, but had never bothered to read them. 
         Held: The terms and conditions on the receipt had been imported into the contract 
         through a course of dealing between the parties. It made no difference if Spurling had 
         actually read them. 
  

     57.  Taylor v Glasgow Corporation 1952 SC 440 

          Mrs. Taylor went to public baths in Glasgow. Having paid the price, she was given a ticket 
         which she was required to hand over to the bath attendant. Printed on the front of the 
         ticket were the words: “For conditions see other side” and on the back was printed: “The 
         Corporation of Glasgow are not responsible for any loss injury or damage sustained by 
         persons entering or using this establishment or its equipment.” Mrs. Taylor knew there was 
         printing on the ticket but did not read the condition. She fell and was badly injured, and 
         brought an action for damages against the Corporation. 
         Held: The ticket was merely a voucher which the pursuer would not have been expected 
         to study for conditions; the conditions did not therefore form part of the contract. 
  

     58.  Hood v The Anchor Line (Henderson Brothers) Ltd 1918 SC (HL) 143 

          Hood was a passenger on “The SS California”, owned by the Anchor Line, on a voyage 
         from New York to Glasgow. He was injured when being hoisted from a lifeboat after the 
         ship ran aground off the Irish coast.  The defenders claimed their liability was limited to 
         £10 by a condition in the contract of carriage. The conditions were printed on part of the 
         ticket retained by the passenger. Both the top and the foot of the document warned the 
         passenger to read the terms and conditions, as did the envelope in which the ticket was 
         given to the passenger. Mr. Hood had travelled with the Anchor Line on several occasions, 
         but had never read the conditions, or noticed that conditions were attached. 
         Held: The company had taken sufficient care to bring the conditions to the notice of the 
         passenger. It did not matter that Hood had not actually read them, only that they had 
         adequately been brought to his notice. 
  
     59.  Williamson v North of Scotland and Orkney Steam Navigation Co 1916 SC 554 

          Tickets issued for a steamer had terms excluding liability printed on their face, but in very 
         small type. This was held not to be sufficient to bring the terms to the notice of a customer 
         injured by negligence: “Nothing was done to direct attention to the condition printed on 
         the face of the ticket in small type, which for any passenger must have been difficult to 
         read, and for many passengers impossible to read without artificial assistance and very 
         favourable surroundings.” 
  

     60.  Interfoto Picture Library Ltd v Stilletto Visual Programs [1988] 1 All ER 348 

          Stilletto required photographs from the 1950s for an advertising promotion and they 
         requested Interfoto to supply these. Interfoto delivered 47 transparencies, together with 
         a delivery note which stated the date by which the photos had to be returned. The note 
         also contained a term which stated that a fee of £5 for each transparency would be payable 
         for each day that they were retained after the return date. 
         Stilletto forgot about the transparencies and did not return them until well after the 
         deadline. Interfoto now claimed £3,783.50 under the clause in the conditions. 
         Held: The clause was not imported into the contract because Interfoto had not done 
         enough to bring it to the attention of Stilletto. Where a clause was very onerous, greater 
         effort must be made to ensure it is brought to the notice of the other party. 
  

     61.  The Moorcock (1889) 16 PD 64 

          A firm which owned a wharf charged a fee on cargo loaded onto or discharged from ships 
         moored at their wharf on the Thames. Ships moored at the wharf had to lie on the river 
         bed at low tide and the owners of the Moorcock were made aware of this when the 
         contract between them and the wharf owners was made. While the Moorcock was 
         discharging cargo at the jetty, the tide went out. The ship settled on a ridge of hard, 
         uneven ground on the river bed and was badly damaged. 
         Held: As the parties knew the ship would ground when the tide was low, and could be 
         presumed to know that unless the ground was safe the ship would be in danger, there was 
         an implied term that the owner of the wharf had a responsibility to ensure that the ground 
         was safe. 
  

     62.  George Mitchell (Chesterhall) Ltd v Finney Lock Seeds [1983] 2 All ER 737 

          Finney Lock contracted to supply George Mitchell, an East Lothian farmer, with winter 
         cabbage seed. The sales invoice and their catalogue contained a clause limiting their 
         liability for defective seed to the purchase price of the seed. The seed was the wrong kind 
         and the crop was a total loss. Mitchell claimed for losses totalling more than £60,000. 
         Finney Lock offered the price of the seed. It was considered, inter alia, whether it was fair 
         and reasonable to incorporate the exclusion clause into the contract. 
         Held: The clause did not satisfy the test of reasonableness. Mitchell could not have got 
         the seed elsewhere on better terms as all seedsmen incorporated the same conditions. It 
         was also shown in evidence that the suppliers could have insured against the risk of such 
         losses without increasing the cost of the seed significantly; in addition, they regularly 
         negotiated settlements in excess of the price of the seeds. 
  

     63.  Blumer & Co v Scott & Sons (1874) 1 R 379 

          The pursuers were shipbuilders who sold an unfinished ship to Ellis and Sons. The 
         contract provided that delivery was not to be later than February 1872 “delays of 
         engineers and every other unavoidable cause excepted. The pursuers then contracted with 
         Scott and Sons, engineers, for the supply of engines for the ship; this contract provided 
         that the engines were to be finished to the satisfaction of the pursuer’s overseer. The 
         engines were not delivered until October 1872. Both Blumer & Co and Ellis and Sons 
         sued Scott for damages. 
         Held: Blumer & Co were protected from liability to Ellis because of the exclusion clause 
         in their contract. They were therefore not entitled to damages because they had suffered 
         no loss. Ellis and Sons, on the other hand, had no claim against Scott because they were 
         not a party to the contract for supplying the engines and the terms of that contract were 
         not such as to confer a jus quaesitum tertio on them. 

     64.  Scott Lithgow Ltd v GEC Electrical Projects Ltd 1992 SLT 244 

          A dispute arose out of a contract for the building and fitting out of HMS “Challenger” 
         The MoD employed Scott’s Shipbuilding Co (later taken over by Scott Lithgow) and the 
         design and manufacture of the electrical controls and surveillance systems were 
         subcontracted by them to GEC. GEC then subcontracted some of this work to four other 
         subcontractors. The MoD later claimed there were defects in the electrical wiring of the 
         systems and also claimed to have a jus quaestium tertio in the contract between the 
         shipbuilders and the subcontractors, because they were referred to in the subcontract and 
         because the subcontract was for the advancement of their interests in the ship being built. 
         Held: Inter alia, it is not sufficient that the contract is one in which the tertius has an 
         interest, he must show that it was the intention of the parties to benefit him. In this case 
         the averments were sufficient to allow a proof. 

    
 65.  Scottish Widows Fund v Buist (1876) 3 R 1078 

          In 1871 a life policy was taken out for £1000, the policy containing the usual stipulations 
         that it would be void if any untrue statements had been made concerning the assured’s 
         state of health or age. In 1872 the policy was assigned to Buist and others, and the 
         assignation was intimated to the insurance company. In 1875 the assured died and the 
         assignees of the policy claimed for payment of the £1000. The insurance company raised 
         an action of reduction on the grounds that the assured had knowingly misrepresented his 
         state of health. 
         Held: The assignees were subject to any exceptions and defences which could have been 
         pleaded against the assured. The false statements were a relevant ground of reduction 
         against the assignees of the policy. 

     66.  Wade v Waldon 1909 SC 571 

          Wade, a music hall comedian, contracted with Waldon to appear at the Glasgow Pavilion 
         and Palace Theatres for a week. The contract stated that all performers must give 14 days 
         notice prior to the engagement beginning and must accompany this with advertising 
         matter. Wade noticed that his name did not appear in the theatre’s advertisements a week 
         before his performance was due, but, when he queried this, he was told that his failure to 
         send notice and publicity was a breach of contract and that he would not be allowed to 
         perform. He sued for breach of contract. 
         Held: Wade’s breach of contract was not material enough to justify Waldon in rescinding 
         the contract. Waldon was therefore liable to Wade for damages for breach of contract. 
  

     67.  Avery v Bowden (1855) 5 E & B 714 

          The defendants chartered the plaintiff’s ship “Lebanon” and agreed to load her with cargo 
         at Odessa within 45 days. The ship went to Odessa and remained there for most of the 45 
         day period. The defendant told the captain of the ship that he did not intend to load cargo 
         and that the captain would do well to leave, but the captain stayed on at Odessa in the 
         hope that he would change his mind. Before the 45 day period was ended the Crimean war 
         broke out so that performance of the contract would have been illegal as trading with the 
         enemy. 
         Held: The plaintiff might have treated the defendant’s refusal to load cargo as an 
         anticipatory breach and claimed damages, but his agent, the captain, had waived that right 
         by staying on in Odessa and the contract had now been discharged by something beyond 
         the control of either party. 
  

   68. Hoechster v De La Tour (1853) 2 EB 678 

         Hoechster was engaged by De La Tour in April act as a courier in charge of a tour of the 
         Alps in June, but in May he received a letter telling him his services would no longer be 
         required. He sued for damages, but De La Tour argued there had been no breach of 
         contract until the date for performance of the contract arrived. 
         Held: Hoechster was entitled to an immediate remedy. There was a breach of contract as 
         soon as his expectations of performance were destroyed. 
  

   69.  White & Carter (Councils) Ltd v McGregor 1962 SC (HL) 1 

         In 1954 McGregor, who owned a garage in Clydebank, contracted with White & Carter, 
         a firm of advertising contractors, that they would display advertisements of the garage on 
         litter bins which White & Carter supplied to local authorities. In 1957 McGregor’s sales 
         manager entered into a further contract to continue the advertising. He had no express 
         authority to enter into this contract and, the same day, McGregor wrote cancelling the 
         contract. White & Carter refused to accept the cancellation and continued to display the 
         advertising in accordance with the contract. They then claimed payment for three years 
         advertising. 
         Held: White & Carter were entitled to perform the contract and claim the contract price 
         and were not obliged to accept McGregor’s repudiation and sue for damages. There was 
         no duty to mitigate loss unless the plaintiffs had accepted the breach and they had not 
         done so in this case. 
  

    70. Gunther & Co v Lauritzen (1894) 31 SLR 359 (OH) 

          The defender, a Danish merchant, had contracted to supply hay and straw to the pursuers 
         in Aberdeen. The defender was aware that the goods were being bought for resale. On 
         delivery, the hay and straw was disconform to contract and was rejected by the pursuers, 
         who brought an action for damages for breach of contract, claiming as part of the damage 
         the loss of profit on the subsale. The pursuers proved that they could not have mitigated 
         this loss by purchasing the goods on the public market. The defenders averred that the 
         pursuers might have obtained the goods in three separate lots from private sellers around 
         the country. 
         Held: Gunther was entitled to claim the whole profit they would have obtained on a resale. 
         The duty to mitigate loss did not extend beyond taking ordinary measures to replace the 
         goods from another source. 
  

     71.  Hadley v Baxendale (1845) 9 Exch 341 

          The plaintiff was a miller in Gloucester. The driving shaft of the mill was broken and the 
         defendant was engaged to carry it to the makers in Greenwich so they could use it as a 
         pattern to make a new one. The carriers delayed delivery of the shaft beyond a reasonable 
         time, so that the mill was idle for longer than necessary. The plaintiff sued in respect of 
         lost profits during the period of delay. 
         Held: The plaintiff could only succeed if he could prove that it was in the normal course 
         of things that the mill would be unable to work because of the broken shaft or, 
         alternatively, that he had fully informed the carrier as to the special circumstances so that 
         the defendant was aware of the possible losses. As the defendant had not been informed, 
         and the mill might well have had a spare shaft, the loss was too remote and could not be 
         recovered. 
  

     72.  Balfour Beattie Construction Ltd v Scottish Power plc 1994 SLT 807 

          The pursuers were constructing a road and an aquaduct. They contracted with Scottish 
         Power for the supply of electricity to a concrete batching plant. They were carrying out 
         work which required a continuous pour of concrete when the batching plant stopped 
         working owing to an interruption of the power supply. The pursuers had to demolish what 
         they had already built and start again. They claimed the cost of this from Scottish Power. 
         Held: The loss was too remote. Scottish Power had not been told of the need for a 
         continuous pour of concrete, or that demolition and rebuilding would be needed if there 
         was an interruption. They could not be expected to be aware of this. 
  

    73. Lord Elphinstone v Monkland Iron and Coal Co Ltd (1886) 13 R (HL) 98 

          Tenants in a mineral lease undertook to level and soil over slag hills by a certain date 
         under a “penalty” of £100 per acre for ground not restored by that date. 
         Held: This was a liquidate damages clause and not a penalty. The sum demanded was 
         proportional to the extent of the failure of the defenders to implement the contract and it 
         was not extortionate or unreasonable. 
  

     74.  Dingwall v Burnett 1912 SC 1097 

          In April 1911 Burnett, who owned a hotel, entered into an agreement with Dingwall by 
         which the latter was to lease the hotel. The agreement provided that Dingwall was to take 
         over the furniture and stock at valuation and was to deposit £200 in the bank to account 
         of the valuation price. The agreement also contained a clause providing that a penalty of 
         £50 was to be payable by either party in the event of their failing to perform the 
         agreement. In August 1911 Dingwall intimated that he did not intend to fulfill his part of 
         the bargain and he brought an action against Burnett for return of the deposit receipt. 
         Burnett counterclaimed for £300 damages for breach of contract. Dingwall argued that 
         he was limited to £50 under the contract. 
         Held: The sum stipulated for (£50) was a penalty clause and not liquidate damages and 
         was not enforceable. Burnett’s claim for damages was therefore not limited to that sum. 
  

     75.  Taylor v Caldwell (1863) 3 B&S 826 

          Taylor contracted to let a music hall from Caldwell for four concerts in the summer of 
         1861. Six days before the first concert was to be performed the hall caught fire and was 
         totally destroyed. Taylor sued for damages for breach of contract as the hall could not be 
         used. 
         Held: Caldwell was not liable in damages as the contract was frustrated by the fire. 
  

     76.  Tay Salmon Fisheries Ltd v Speedie 1929 SC 593 

          Tay were tenants of salmon fishing’s under a 1916 lease for 19 seasons. In 1925 and 1928, 
         under bye laws made under statutory  powers, the Air Force took over the land on which 
         the fishings were situated for target practice. Observance of the bye laws made the 
         fishings incapable of possession for the purposes of the lease, even though target practice 
         was not carried out all the time. Tay asked the court for a declarator that they were 
         entitled to abandon the lease. 
         Held: The court could apply the principles of rei interitus and avoid the lease, even though 
         the subjects if the let were still in existence, because the tenant’s enjoyment of the subjects 
         had been wholly destroyed “beyond any immediate possibility of restoration”. 
  

     77.  James B Fraser & Co Ltd v Denny, Mott & Dickson Ltd 1944 SC (HL) 35 

          Fraser entered into an agreement with the defenders under which Fraser was to buy all the 
         red and white pine it required from DMD Ltd and DMD Ltd was to occupy Fraser’s 
         timber yard. The agreement was expressed to be terminable by either party on giving 
         notice and, in the event of termination, DMD Ltd was to be given the option to purchase 
         the yard. Wartime regulations made it impossible for DMD to supply Fraser with the 
         required wood, and DMD gave notice that it was terminating the agreement and intended 
         to exercise the option to purchase. 
         Held: The option had lapsed. The agreement had been terminated by because of the 
         impossibility of trading (Frustration) and the option could be exercised only if termination 
         was by notice. 
  

     78.  Cantiere San Rocco SA v Clydebank Shipbuilding & Engineering Co Ltd 1923 SLT 
             624 
          Cantiere, an Austrian shipbuilding company, contracted to buy three marine engines from 
         Clydebank Shipbuilding. The contract price was £11,550 to be paid in instalments. The 
         first instalment was paid in May 1914, but war broke out in August 1914 and it became 
         impossible to fulfill the contract. Cantiere sued for the return of the instalment already 
         paid. 
         Held: The contract had been frustrated owing to a cause for which neither party was 
         responsible. Clydebank was obliged to return the instalment to Cantiere as it had been 
         given in return for a consideration which had failed


Section 2- The Law of Agency
Tutorial 3

Section A – Theory

1. What is the difference between a Special Agent and a General Agent?

2. How many parties are involved within an Agency contract?

3. How would you define the term ‘authority’

Section B – Practical

4. Del-Boy has asked Rodney to purchase a second-hand car for him. He expressly stipulated that Rodney was not to pay more than £3,500. Rodney could not find the kind of car that Del-Boy wanted at this price, but entered into a contract with Shifty Motors to buy a car for £5,000 without telling them that he was buying it for someone else. Initially Del-Boy agreed to take the car for £5,000, but when Shifty Motors tried to deliver it, both He and Del-Boy refused to take delivery.
Advise Shifty Motors.

5. Terry went on a climbing holiday in the Himalayas, leaving his house keys with his neighbour Susan, so that she could feed his pet iguana (jubb-jubb) and water his plants. A few days later after Terry had left; Susan noticed that his house had been burgled. The burglars had entered the house through a skylight on the roof and in doing so had broken both the skylight and several roof tiles. As it was raining heavily, and water was getting into the house Susan arranged, at considerable expense, for workmen to repair the skylight and repair the roof tiles.
A week before Terry returned for his holiday his house was struck by lightning and destroyed by fire. He is now refusing to pay for the cost of repairing the skylight and roof as he has had no benefit from it whatsoever and claims Susan had no authority to have the work done. Advise Susan of her legal position regarding the repairs.

6. Gordon owns a restaurant which is managed by Ainsley. Ainsley is permitted to order supplies of various kinds for the restaurant, on the condition that any individual order of more than £100 must be approved by Gordon. Additionally Ainsley is not permitted to order wines and spirits. All the regular suppliers to the restaurant are aware of these restrictions. In the past few weeks, Ainsley has made four orders to a new supplier. All of these orders were worth more than £100 and the final one was for several cases of very expensive champagne. Gordon paid the supplier’s invoices for the first two orders, but is refusing to pay the other two.
Advise Gordon.
7. Sunloaf, a large bakery company, instructed an agent to negotiate the purchase of several thousand sacks of flour from Bettergrain Ltd. In fact the agent purchased the flour from another supplier, who was prepared to offer him a commission to supplement the fee he would be paid by Sunloaf. The flour turned out to be of inferior quality and Sunloaf were unable to use it.
Advise Sunloaf

8. Mr Burns instructed Mr Smithers to negotiate the purchase of some machinery for a factory, telling him to pay up to £250,000. Mr Smithers managed to obtain the machinery for £200,000 which he paid, but Mr Burns then decided he did not want it, and has refused to pay Mr Smithers. Mr Smithers has now sold the machinery elsewhere, but could only get £185,000 for it.
Advise Mr Smithers.
Section 2 - The Law of Agency 

Important/Relevant Cases

                                                                                          
  

1. Tinnevelly Sugar Refining Co Ltd v Mirrlees, Watson & Yaryan Co Ltd. (1894) 21R 1009. 

Two men bought machinery from the defenders, claiming to be acting on behalf of the plaintiff company. 
The company was not in fact registered until two weeks later. Machinery supplied was defective and 
the company tried to sue. Held: The pursuer had no rights under the contract because not a party to it. 
A company has no capacity before it is registered. 
  

2. Kelner v Baxter 1866 LR 2 CP 174 

Three purported directors bought goods on behalf of a company yet to be formed. The company was 
later registered but became insolvent before the goods were paid for. It was held that the directors had 
acted without a principal, as no company had existed at the time of the contract. The directors were 
therefore personally liable on the contract. 
  

3. Freeman & Lockyer v Buckhurst Park Properties Ltd [1964] 2 QB 480 

Buckhurst Park Properties articles provided for the appointment of a managing director with authority 
to bind the company by himself. No managing director was ever appointed, but one director in fact 
carried out this role with the approval of the other directors. He employed the plaintiffs as architects. 
The company refused to pay their fees, claiming that the director had no authority to employ the 
architects without the consent of the other directors. Held: The director had been held out by the 
company as having authority to act - the company was therefore personally barred (estopped in England) from denying that he had authority to bind the company. 
 
4. Goodall v Bilsland 1909 SC 1152 

A wine merchant applied to licensing court to have his wine and spirits licence renewed. Opponents to the 
renewal employed a solicitor to act for them in opposing the application. The renewal was granted. The law 
allowed 10 days for an appeal against this and the solicitor, without consulting his principals, lodged an 
appeal, which was successful. The wine merchant appealed against this and was successful. The solicitor 
had no authority to bring the appeal and his doing so could not be ratified after the ten days allowed for 
lodging the appeal had lapsed. 
  

5. Keighley Maxted & Co v Durant [1901] AC 240 

K & Co authorised a man called Roberts to buy wheat for them and himself with a limit as to the price he 
could pay. He failed to buy at this price and entered into a contract with D to buy at a higher price. He did 
not disclose to D that he was acting for someone else as well as himself. K & Co then agreed with Roberts 
to take the wheat at the higher price. Both K & Co and Roberts eventually failed to take delivery and D 
sued for damages. It was held that K & Co could not be made liable as D had not known at the time the 
contract was made that R was acting for anyone other than himself. 
  

6. Lass Salt Garvin v Pomeroy [2003] EWHC 1007 

Lass Salt Garvin, a firm of solicitors, were seeking to recover fees of £100,000 for acting    in connection with the sale of shares from one company to another. LSG had issued   invoices but the fees were not paid as they fell due. P, however, claimed that their agent, 
 T had not had authority to agree the legal fees.  LSG claimed that P had authorised T  to   agree the fees with LSG and that T did so. It was further claimed that, even if T did not have authority to agree the fees, P’s subsequent silence and failure to challenge LSG’s invoices amounted to a ratification of the agreement. 
 

Held: 
 (a)   P had not given T the authority to reach an agreement with LSG in respect of 
          legal fees, and he had done so without authority. . 
   (b)  The unauthorised actions of an agent would not normally be ratified by the 
          silence or inaction of the principal, but 
   (c)  In this case, P’s failure to challenge LSG’s  invoices until such a late stage 
          indicated that they were prepared to ratify T’s actions. 
  

7. Great Northern Railway Co v Swaffield [1974] LR 9 Exch 132 

A railway was delivering a horse on behalf of S. Because of delays which were not the railways fault, the 
horse could not be delivered on time and the railway company, which did not know Swaffield’s name and 
address, put the horse in livery stables. 
Held: S was liable to pay the livery costs - putting the horse in stables was acting out of necessity.
8. Springer v Great Western Railway Co [1921] 1 KB 257 

GWR contracted to carry a consignment of tomatoes from Jersey to London. The ship was late arriving, 
and when it did, GWR's employees were on strike. When the cargo was unloaded, some of the tomatoes 
had gone bad. GWR's agent decided to sell the whole consignment locally. Held: GWR was not acting out 
of necessity in selling the tomatoes - communication with the owner was not impossible. 
  

9. Glendinning v Hope & Co 1911 SC (HL) 73 

A stockbroker bought one hundred shares on a client’s instructions and were then instructed to buy a further 
two hundred shares. The client then changed his mind and instructed another stockbroker to buy the two 
hundred shares. Original brokers claimed they were entitled to retain the original one hundred shares until 
they were paid for work done in the second transaction. 
Held: The broker was entitled to retain the shares until paid, his position was that of a factor. 
  

10. Barry, Ostlere & Shepherd Ltd v Edinburgh Cork Importing Co 1909 SC 1113 

B, O & S negotiated with the salesman of the Edinburgh Cork Co for the sale of some cork shavings. A 
contract was made, but the Cork Co did not deliver. The price of shavings had then risen and BO&S 
brought an action for breach of contract against the Cork Co. The Cork Co claimed that the salesman had 
not been intended to actually conclude the contract. 
Held: the pursuers were entitled to assume that the salesman had the authority to complete a contract. 
  

11. Riverford Finance Ltd v Kelly 1991 SLT 300 (OH) 

Kelly brought a sheriff court action against R Ltd in which he was granted decree by default because R 
Ltd's solicitor failed to attend the hearing. R Ltd's solicitor then appealed to the sheriff principal, but 
failed to attend the hearing of the appeal, which was refused. He then lodged an appeal to the Court of 
Session, naming solicitors in Edinburgh to act in the appeal. They stated they were not prepared to act 
and the appeal was abandoned. R Ltd argued that the appeal proceedings ought to be nullified because 
they had given their agent no authority to bring the appeal. It was held that he needed no special authority 
to bring it. 
  

12. SMC Electronics Ltd v Akhter Computers Ltd [2001] 1 BCLC 433 

An employee (B) of Akhter Computers Ltd had negotiated a commission agreement with SMC Electronics under which SMC was to be paid 50% of profits made by Akhter Computers on certain sales projects. Akhter Computers claimed that B had no implied authority to make the commission agreement on its behalf. 
Held: On an interpretation of B’s contract of employment, the negotiation of the 
commission agreement was a normal part of B’s duties and he therefore had implied 
authority to make the agreement with SMC Electronics 
  

13. Sinclair, Moorhead & Co v Wallace & Co (1880) 7R 874 

The general manager of a branch of a large firm borrowed money on firm’s behalf, then disappeared with the money. 
Held: His employers were not liable to repay the loan. The manager’s implied authority did not extend to 
borrowing money. 
  

14. International Sponge Importers v Watt & Sons 1911 SC (HL) 57 

A travelling salesman for the sponge importers sold sponges which he carried with him. He had no authority 
to receive payment except by means of crossed cheques made out to the company. Watt & Sons had bought 
sponges from the salesman and paid by cheques made out to the salesman. The sponge company knew of this 
but had not objected. On one occasion Watt paid the salesman £120 in cash. It transpired that the salesman 
had been taking the money for himself. The sponge company tried to sue Watt for the amount that they should 
have received for the sponges, but which the salesman had taken. Held: Watt & Sons were not liable to pay - 
in the circumstances, they had no reason to believe that the salesman was not authorised to receive payment  by this method, especially as the sponge company had not objected in the past. 
  

15. Watteau v Fenwick [1893] 1 QB 346 

The manager of a public house was prohibited from buying goods for the business - all goods were to be 
supplied by the principal, his employer. The manager ordered certain articles from a supplier, which the 
principal refused to pay for because the manager had no authority. Held: The principal had to pay. 
Ordering the goods was within the usual authority of a pub manager and the supplier did not know of 
any limitations. 
  

16. Racing UK Ltd v Doncaster Racecourse Ltd [2005] WL 1842618 

Doncaster racecourse was owned by Doncaster local authority but managed by a company (D). D had entered into an agreement with Racing UK, granting them television picture rights . Exercise of the rights required that Racing UK have access to the racecourse, and access could only be granted by the local authority, as owners of the course. The local authority claimed that it was not bound by the agreement because D had no authority to make it and Racing UK had entered into the agreement with D in the belief that D was the principal. 
Held: Racing UK had known that the local authority was the owner of the racecourse and 
had not dealt with D on the basis that D was the principal. The evidence showed that 
Racing UK thought that D had the authority to act as agent for the local authority, and 
that the local authority had held D out as their agent. The local authority was therefore 
bound by D’s agreement with Racing UK. 

  

17. British Bata Shoe Co Ltd v Double M Shah Ltd 1980 SC 311 

The pursuers had supplied goods to the defender, who had made payment to the pursuer’s cashier, who had no authority to receive payment. The cashier asked for the payee’s name to be left blank on the cheque, and he later stole the cheque and cashed it for himself. The pursuer sued for payment for the goods and the 
defender claimed they had been paid for, and the cashier had ostensible authority to receive payment. Held: Cashier asking for payee’s name to be left blank on the cheque was suspicious enough that the defender should have checked whether he had authority. The defender’s had to pay again. 
  

18. Gilmour v Clark (1853) 15 D 478 

Gilmour gave instructions to Clark, a carrier, to take goods to the docks and put them on a ship called the Earl of Zetland. Clark put them on a ship called The Magnet instead - this ship sank and the goods were lost. Held that Clark was liable to Gilmour for the value of the goods. 
  

19. Graham & Co v United Turkey Red Co 1922 SC 533 

It was a term of the contract that the agent was not to sell goods supplied by anyone other than the principal. 
The agent sold other goods and was dismissed. Held that he was not entitled to commission for the period 
when he sold other supplier's goods. 
  

20. De Bussche v Alt (1878) 8 Ch D 286 

The principal, De Bussche, appointed an agent to sell a ship in China at a certain price. The agent also had 
authority to appoint a sub-agent and he appointed Alt to try to sell the ship in Japan. It was held this was not 
a breach of the agent's duty, and, as Alt had been appointed as a substitute for the original agents, there was 
a contract between De Bussche and Alt. 
  

21. Tyler v Logan (1904) 7F 123 

Logan was the manager of a branch of a shoe shop. During a stocktaking, there was a shortfall of £62. Logan was held to be obliged to pay this amount to Tyler, even though there was no evidence of dishonesty or negligence (but also no explanation of how the loss occurred). 
  

22. Milne v Ritchie (1882) 10 R 365 

Milne was an architect - he had authority to negotiate and contract for mason work up to a value of £1465. Milne accepted Ritchie's offer to do the work for £1646. Ritchie brought a successful action to make Milne's principal pay the £1646. The principal was then held entitled to be relieved of his loss by M. 
  

23. Lothian v Jenolite Ltd 1969 SC 111 

L agreed with J Ltd to sell some of J's products in Scotland in exchange for commission. the agreement was for a four year period but J Ltd ended it after a little over a year. L brought a claim for damages for breach of contract. J Ltd counterclaimed by saying that L had bought and sold a competitors products, and that he 
was therefore himself in breach of contract. It was held that, as the contract had not stated that L should only sell J's products, he was entitled to also sell those of a competitor. 
  

24. McPherson's Trustees v Watt (1877) 5 R (HL) 9 

Watt was a lawyer who bought four houses from the trustees for his brother. Watt was also the law agent for the trustees. Before the sale was made, Watt had arranged with his brother that he would pay him half the price and take two of the houses for himself. Held: Watt had made the contract without disclosing to the trustees that 
he was partly buying for himself - the transaction was set aside by the court. The court also pointed out that it did not matter of the bargain was a good one or not - the sale could be set aside even if Watt had paid a fair price. 
  

25. Ronaldson v Drummond & Reid (1881) 8 R 956 

A solicitor, acting for a client, employed an auctioneer to sell furniture. The auctioneer paid the solicitor a percentage of the commission he took for the sale. Held that the solicitor was bound to pay this over to the client. 
  

26. De Bussche v Alt 1878 8 Ch D 286 

Alt, employed as sub agent to sell a ship in Japan, told the original agents that he did not think he could sell it 
but offered to buy it himself for the sum of $90,000. The ship was sold to him at that price, but he had in fact negotiated a sale to a Japanese prince for $160,000. Held: Alt was in breach of his fiduciary duty and was obliged to account to the principal for the profit he had made. 
  

27. Liverpool Victoria Friendly Society v Houston (1900) 3F 42 

Houston was an agent of Liverpool Victoria for 4 years, during which time he saw lists of people insured by 
them. He was dismissed and then offered the lists to a rival society, which canvassed the people on them. 
Held: Houston had a duty to treat the information in the lists as confidential and could not use them against his principal. He was liable in damages for loss of business suffered by Liverpool Victoria as a result. 
  

28. Kennedy v Glass (1890) 17 R 1085 

Glass was a dealer in old machinery. Kennedy was an architect who had often introduced Glass to people who had old machinery for sale and had been paid for this. On one occasion, Kennedy introduced Glass to a company which had machinery and plant for sale. Glass entered into a contract with the company to buy 
it - but failed to carry out the contract. Kennedy said there had been an arrangement that he would get £250.00 commission. Glass said it was £50, and only if the contract was carried out. Held that Kennedy was entitled to £50 on a quantum meruit basis - he had taken considerable time and trouble on Glass's behalf. 
  

29.  PJ Pipe & Valve Co Ltd v Audco India Ltd 2005 WL 2205296 

The claimant (P) had two agency agreements with the defendant, one of which did not make any provision for the rate of commission to be paid. When this agreement was terminated by the defendant, P brought a claim for compensation for commission outstanding in respect of orders placed for a project. Expert evidence showed that the usual commission level in the industry was 5 %, but lower levels were paid for high value orders, which this was. P was held to be entitled to commission of 4.5 %. 

  

30. Drummond v Cairns (1852) 14 D 611 

Cairns was a stockbroker who was instructed by Drummond to buy certain shares. He bought them and told Drummond he had done so, but when the time came to pay the price, Drummond refused to pay. Cairns then sold the shares, but the price had fallen. Held: Drummond was liable to repay Cairns the difference in the two prices. 
  

31. Tomlinson v Scottish Amalgamated Silks Ltd 1935 SC (HL) 1 

T was a director of S Ltd. The articles of association of S Ltd allowed for a director to be indemnified by the company against all losses and expenses incurred in performance of his duties as director. S Ltd went into liquidation and T was tried for fraudulently using the funds of the company. He was acquitted, and lodged a 
claim in the liquidation for the costs of defending the case. Held: He was not entitled to reclaim this - the expenses were not incurred in the performance of his duties as director. 
  

32. Stevenson v Duncan (1842) 5 D 167 

D asked a stockbroker to sell 20 shares for him, although D did not actually own these shares. The stockbroker contracted to sell the shares to Cullen. Because the shares could not be delivered, Cullen brought an action against the stockbrokers and was awarded damages. The stockbrokers were held to be entitled to reclaim the 
amount of the damages from D. 
  

33. Marshall, Wilson Dean & Turnbull v Feymac Properties Ltd 1996 GWD 22 1247 

The pursuers were solicitors instructed by the defenders to act in the sale of property belonging to the defenders. Before the sale could be completed, certain planning documents had to be produced. The defenders told the solicitors that these were about to be issued and the solicitors granted a letter of obligation to the purchasers on the strength of this assertion. The documents were not forthcoming and the solicitors had to pay for work to be carried out before they would be granted. Held: The defenders were liable to compensate the pursuers for the expense of having the work done and for their costs in defending the action brought against them by the 
purchasers of the property. 
  

34. Robinson v Middleton (1859) 21 D 1089 

M instructed R to sell some wood for him. R sold the wood to Perry, the agent of an Australian firm. P and R made an arrangement that Perry would incur no liability on the transaction, but this arrangement was not told to M. The price for the wood was paid by bill of exchange drawn by Perry on the Australian firm, but this firm 
became insolvent by the time the wood was delivered. The bank which had discounted the bill sold the wood, but only got a price £1000 less than the amount of the bill. Normally Perry, as drawer of the bill, would have been liable to make up the amount, but he had been released from liability by R, so R paid the £1000 and tried 
to claim it from M. Held M did not have to pay - he had not consented to Perry being released from any liability on the bill. 
  

35. Stone & Rolfe Ltd v Kimber Coal Co 1926 SC (HL) 45 

The Coal Co acted as agents to charter a ship for a Scandinavian company. The contract was signed by a representative of the Coal Co, the signature was preceded by the words "For the Atlantic Baltic Co (the Scandinavian Co). S & R brought an action against the Coal Co for certain expenses incurred. Held: The Coal Co were not liable, they had clearly signed as agents only. 
  

36. Armour v Duff & Co 1912 SC 120 

An argument that the agent was acting for an undisclosed principal failed where the principals were known to be the owners of a certain ship, and their identity could easily be ascertained by looking at the Register of Shipping. 
  

37. Livesey v Purdom & Sons (1894) 21 R 911 

It was the custom in England that a solicitor who employed another solicitor to act for a client could be made 
personally liable for the costs. A Scottish solicitor had employed an English one to bring an action in England 
for a client. When the English solicitor sued the Scottish one for his costs, it was held that he had failed to 
prove this was the custom in Scotland. 
  

38. Mackenzie v Cormack 1950 SC 183 

An auctioneer, acting for a disclosed seller, was held entitled to sue a successful bidder for the price, because he had a lien over the price for his commission. 
  

39. Gibb v Cunningham & Robertson 1925 SLT 608 

C&R were solicitors who acted for a client in the purchase of shares in business and a house belonging to G. The papers showed that they were acting for a client, but not who the client was. The price was not paid and G asked for the name of the client. C&R did not reply. Held that G was entitled to sue C&R for the price. 
  

40. Bennett v Inveresk Paper Company (1891) 18 R 975 

B owned a newspaper in Australia. He asked his London agents to contract for the supply of paper. They entered into a contract with Inveresk to supply the paper and ship it to Australia. Inveresk were not aware of the existence of B at this time. The paper, when it arrived, was damaged. B brought action for breach of contract 
against Inveresk. Held: he had title to sue. 
  

41. Ferrier v Dods (1865) 3 M 561 

Dods was an auctioneer. He advertised a sale of horses, warranted as good workers. Ferrier bought a horse, but later informed Dods that it was unfit for work. Dods told Ferrier that he had the right to return the horse, and suggested he return her to her former owner. F did this but did not get his money back - he then tried to 
sue Dods. Held: by returning the horse to the owner, Ferrier had effectively elected to take action against him. The action against Dods, the auctioneer, was dismissed. 
  

42. Collen v Wright (1857) 8 E&B 647 

A person professed to act as agent for the owner of a farm and made a lease of the farm to Collen. He later died and then Collen discovered that he had no authority to make the lease. Held: His personal representatives were liable to Collen because he had impliedly warranted that he had the authority of the farm owner to make 
the lease. 
  

43. Yonge v Toynbee [1910] 1 KB 215 

A solicitor was appearing in a court action for a client. Unknown to the solicitor, the client had become of unsound mind and therefore had no capacity - the solicitor's authority had therefore been terminated. Held: He was liable to the plaintiffs for all their costs. 
  

44. Anderson v Croall & Sons Ltd 1903 6F 153 

A horse was accidentally auctioned by Croall. A was the bidder. He paid the price but the owner refused to deliver the horse - the sale had not been authorised by him. Held: that A was entitled to return of the price he had paid, plus damages, from Croall & Sons. 
  

45. Irving v Burns 1915 SC 260 

Burns was the secretary of a company. He claimed to have the authority of the company and accepted an offer made by Irving for plumbing work to be done at a theatre. Irving did the work, then discovered that Burns had no authority. He sued Burns for breach of warranty of authority. It transpired that the company 
had no assets, and would not have been able to pay Irving even if he had a contract with them. As Irving would have been no better off if he had successfully made a contract with the principal, no damages were payable. 
  

46. Patmore & Co v Cannon & Co (1892) 19 R 1004 

Patmore agreed to act as Cannon's agents for the sale of certain goods. The agency was to be for a period of five years. After only a few months, Cannon gave up manufacturing the goods. Held: Patmore had no claim for breach of contract - Cannon had not undertaken to carry on the business for five years.
Section 3- The Law of Partnership
Tutorial 4


Section A – Theory


1. How would you define a Partnership and what are its main attributes
2. According to section 5 of The Partnership Act 1890 “Every partner is an agent of the firm” What does that mean?

3. Why is The Limited Liability Partnerships Act of 1907 important?
Section B – Practical

4. By reference to the provisions of The Partnership Act 1890 and any relevant reported cases, determine whether or not a partnership exists in the following situation.

Stewie and Meg open a shop selling expensive perfume. In order that they can afford to lease premises in a high rent area they borrow a substantial sum from Meg’s dad Peter, on the agreement that they will repay the loan by giving him 25% of the net profits of the business. Since neither has much inclination to actually work in the shop, they employ Chris as sales assistant, promising him 10% of the net profit in addition to a small wage. Shortly after the shop opens, Lois who supplied all the fixtures and fittings for the shop begins to press for payment and Stewie and Meg come to an agreement with her under which she too is to receive a share of the profits until the debt is paid.

Business is fairly good, but with such a drain on profits Stewie and Meg finds they are not making the fortune they expected, until they discover a supplier of cheap fake copies of expensive brand name perfumes. These they sell as the genuine article, making huge profits. The genuine perfume manufacturers have now discovered this and are attempting to sue Stewie, Meg, Chris, Peter and Lois as partners in the business.
5.
Mr Grabb and Mr Cash have been in partnership as solicitors for many years. The firm has held on deposit a large sum of money belonging to Mrs Vulnerable, a wealthy client. Mr Cash, who has for the past six months been taking money from this account for his own personal use, is suddenly panic stricken that this will be discovered and raises a loan in the firm’s name, hoping to use the proceeds to cover up the deficit.

Explain whether the firm will be liable:
(a) To the client, if he suffers any loss as a result of Mr Cash’s activities

(b) To the moneylender for the amount of the loan.

6.
Barney, Carl and Lenny were partners, but on the 1st December 2007, Barney unfortunately died of alcohol misuse. Consider whether and to what extent his estate could be made liable for:
(a)
A loan made to the partnership in January 2006, repayable on 1st January 2009.

(b)
A bank overdraft granted to the partnership on the 5th December 2007.

(c)
Solicitors fees in respect of an action brought by the firm, commencing in August 2006 and concluded in January 2008.

(d)
A contract for the continuing supply of goods to the firm, some of which were delivered before, and some after 1st December 2007

7.
Gavin and Stacy had for many years carried on a partnership at will, as engineers and architects. Three years ago the firm entered into a contract with a Middle Eastern state to design and build a water distillation plant, with Gavin going abroad to supervise the construction. The plant turned out to be a huge success, attracting much attention and as a result Stacy was contacted by a neighbouring state with a view to building something similar for them. Stacy seeing the possibilities involved, immediately dissolved her partnership with Gavin and negotiated this lucrative new contract for herself.


Advise Gavin.
8.
Ross, Rachel and Phoebe are partners in the business of manufacturing tents and other camping equipment. Ross hears of a factory for sale some distance away. Without discussing this with his co-partners, he buys the factory and begins to manufacture tents there on his own account, undercutting the firm’s prices.

Ross then assigns his share of the partnership to his son Ben, who suspecting that the full extent of the firm’s profits are being kept from him, arrives one day at the offices of the firm and demands to inspect the books

Advise Rachel and Phoebe.
Section 3 - The Law of Partnership

Important/Relevant Cases

   1.     Winsor v Shroeder (1979) 129 NLJ 1266 

     Mrs. Shroeder bought two houses with the intention of developing and re-selling them.  She found she had insufficient funds to proceed with the scheme, so agreed with Winsor, a property dealer, to purchase the houses jointly and share the profits equally. It was said that, while a single transaction was less likely to be regarded as a partnership; in this case 
     a partnership existed. The important consideration was not whether it was a single 
     venture but whether it was a commercial venture. 
  

     2.   Khan and another v Miah and others [2001] 1 All E.R. 282 

     Five people were involved in a venture to open a restaurant, in which one of the   defendants was to be the manager and another defendant and one of the plaintiffs were  to be chefs. Another defendant was brought into the venture because of his commercial    expertise. Various transactions were carried out in connection with setting up the    business, including opening a joint bank account, obtaining premises and engaging   contractors to convert them into something suitable for a restaurant. Furniture and   equipment were also purchased. Three of the parties had obtained a loan from the bank 
     to buy the premises and this covered 80% of the cost, with the remaining 20% to be   contributed by two of them. The relationship between the parties broke down and was  terminated before the restaurant opened. The restaurant was opened and the business  carried on by the defendants. The plaintiffs were claiming a share of the capital and  profits of the partnership. The House of Lords held that a partnership has existed from  the time that the parties embarked on transactions on behalf of the joint venture, and not 
     just from the time the restaurant business was opened. 
  

     3.    Keith Spicer Ltd v Mansell (1970) 1 All ER 462 

     Mr. Mansell and Mr. Spicer decided to go into business together and to form a limited  company which was going to carry on the business of Mr. Mansell's restaurant. Mr. Bishop  ordered goods from the plaintiffs so that they could be used by the company after it had  been formed, which it eventually was. The goods were not paid for, and the plaintiffs  sued Mr. Mansell for the price on the ground that a partnership existed between Mr. 
     Mansell and Mr. Bishop. The action failed. The Court of Appeal held there was no  evidence that Mansell and Bishop were carrying on business together with a view to  profit. As Harman, LJ said at page 464, "they were preparing to carry on business as a  company as soon as they could. I think that the learned county court judge was justified  in saying that they never intended to be partners and that therefore they were not partners  because they never carried on business as such." 
  

     4.    Sharpe v Carswell 1910 SC 391 

     Mr. Sharpe owned ten sixty-fourth shares of a schooner. He performed the duties of  master, and he received a fixed remuneration for this service. He died as a result of  injuries sustained on board the schooner while he was acting in the course of his   employment as master. His widow claimed compensation under the Workmen's  Compensation Act 1906 from Mr. Carswell, the managing owner of the schooner. It was  held by the Court of Session that Mr. Sharpe had been a "workman" within the meaning 
     of the Act, and not a partner or joint adventurer in the trading of the vessel. In the course  of his judgement, Lord Ardwall said, at page 395 "...it is quite settled that the fact of  persons being co-owners of shares in a ship does not make them partners....joint owners  are not partners, but are separate individuals holding definite shares in a common subject,  and where there are several of them, the subject in which they are all interested is in the 
     ordinary case managed by a manager or managing owner, who within certain limits is  empowered to act from them in the management of the ship, but this does not render  them partners or joint adventurers." 
  

     5.    Dawson v Counsell [1938] 3 All ER 5 

     Dawson was co-owner of a mare which was used for breeding, the foals being sold at a  profit. It was held in this case that the owners of the mare were partners; the mare was an asset being used in a business. 
  

     6.    Cox v Coulson [1916] 2 KB 177 

     Coulson, the manager of a theatre, entered into an agreement for the performance of a  play at his theatre with Mill, the manager of a theatrical company, whereby Coulson was  to provide the theatre and pay for the lighting and advertising in exchange for 60% of the  gross receipts from the ticket sales. A member of the audience was injured by one of the 
     actors during a performance, and she sought to recover damages from Coulson on the grounds that he and Mill were partners, and so jointly and severally liable for her injuries. Held there was no partnership between them; this was merely an arrangement to share  gross returns. 
  

     7.    Pratt v Strick (1932) 17 TC 459 

     A medical practitioner sold the goodwill of his practice, but agreed with the purchaser   to remain in the house from which the practice was carried on for three months to  introduce the patients to the purchaser. The earnings and expenses during the three  months were to be shared equally. It was held that these were not partnership earnings -   there was an agreement for an outright sale of the business. 
  

     8.    Adam v Newbigging (1888) 13 AC 308 

     At page 315, Lord Halsbury said: "If a partnership in fact exists, a community of interest  in the adventure being carried on in fact, no concealment of name, no verbal equivalent  for the ordinary phrases of profit and loss, no expedient for enforcing control over the  adventure will prevent the substance and reality of the transaction being adjudged to be a partnership...and no phrasing of it by a dexterous draughtsman will avail to avert the legal consequences of the contract." 
  

     9.    Stewart v Buchanan (1903) 6 F 15; Scottish Cases on Partnerships and Companies, 

     Mr. Stewart brought an action to recover a sum of money for goods supplied to the City   Stockrooms Company. He brought the action against the firm and against two individuals  - Saunders and Buchanan - as the only known partners in the firm. Buchanan defended  by denying that he was a partner. He relied on a memorandum of agreement between   himself and Saunders which provided that he (Buchanan) was not to be a partner in the  business, or liable for any of its debts or obligations. Held: He was liable for the price of   the goods, on the ground that he was sharing in the profit and, therefore, a partner in the  business. 
  

    

 10.   Everet v Williams (1787) Unreported 

     Two highwaymen entered into a partnership whereby they were to equally share all   expenses relative to their activities and were likewise to share all profits of their  robberies. One later brought an action calling the other to account for certain "profits" which he had failed to declare to the other. The action was dismissed. 
  

     11.   Mercantile Credit Co Ltd v Garrod [1962] 3 All ER 103 

     Mr. Garrod and Mr. Parkin formed a partnership for the purpose of letting lock up garages    and of repairing cars, but expressly excluding the buying and selling of cars. Parkin,   without Garrod's knowledge, purported to sell a car, to which he had no title, to   Mercantile Credit, who believed that they were dealing with a partnership. It was held that Garrod was liable, because the sale of the car was the doing of "an act for carrying on in the usual way business of a kind carried on by the firm." Mocatta J said: "I consider ...that when Parkin entered into this sale to the plaintiffs of a Mercedes Benz as part and 
     parcel of this hire purchase agreement...Parkin was doing an act of a like to the business  carried on by persons trading as a garage, and on that ground...my decision in this case  must be in favour of the plaintiffs. 
  

     12.   Paterson Brothers v Gladstone (1891) 18 R 403 

     Paterson Brothers was a firm of builders with three partners. The partnership agreement  provided that one of them should be fully in charge of the financial affairs of the  partnership and should be the only one to sign financial documents. One of the other partners signed the firm's name on some promissory notes in favour of a moneylender (Gladstone), discounted them and appropriated the money for his own use.  Held: The firm was not liable to pay the notes - not because of the terms in the  partnership agreement, but because Gladstone ought to have known or suspected that a 
     partner in such a firm would not have the authority to raise money for the firm in this 
     way. 
  

     13.   Bagel v Miller (1903) 2 KB 212 

     Bagel supplied goods to a partnership of which Miller was a member. Miller later died.  Some of the goods had been delivered before the death, others afterwards. It was held that     Millers estate was only liable for the goods delivered to the partnership before his death.  The obligation to pay only arose on delivery, so the debt relating to goods delivered after  Millers death had been incurred after he ceased to be a partner. His estate could not be  held liable for this. 
  

     14.   Kirkintilloch Equitable Cooperative Society Limited v Livingstone 1972 SC 111; 

     Mr. Jackson, a partner in a firm of chartered accountants, had for several years prior to      1967 acted as official auditor of the Kirkintilloch Equitable Cooperative Society Limited.   The society paid the audit fee to his firm, and Mr. Jackson was assisted in his audit by   employees of the firm. 
     The firm was dissolved in 1967. The society alleged that, owing to Mr. Jackson's  negligence, certain accounting errors had remained undetected and involved the society in a loss. Accordingly, the society brought an action of damages against all the partners of the former firm. Mr. Jackson's former partners contended that, as against them, the  action was irrelevant, since the firm could not lawfully have been an official auditor of   the society and that Mr. Jackson had, therefore, been acting as an individual and not 
     within the ordinary course of the firm's business.  It was held by the Court of Session that the action was relevant. Lord Clyde referred to   both branches of section 10 of the Partnership Act 1890. Dealing first with the "ordinary 
     course of the business of the firm", Lord Clyde said that the criterion was whether the" auditing of the accounts was one of the kinds of activities which were in the  contemplation of the partners when they combined together in partnership." He held that    it clearly was. If, however, it could be argued that Mr. Jackson was not acting in "the     ordinary course of the business", Lord Clyde considered that he had been acting "with the    authority of his co-partners", which is the second branch of section 10. 
  

     15.   Mair v Wood (1886) 14 R 75 

     Mair was a partner in a fishing enterprise. He was injured at sea through the negligence    of the skipper of the boat, who was also a partner. It was held that the firm was not liable  to Mair for the skipper's negligence. 
  

     16.  Rhodes v Moules [1895] 1 Ch 326 

     A client wished to obtain a loan of money. The loan was being arranged through a firm     of solicitors. One of the partners told the borrower that additional security was required.   The client handed to the partner certain share warrants as additional security. The partner  misappropriated the share warrants. The client sued the firm in respect of the loss under   section 11 of the Partnership Act 1890. It was held by the Court of Appeal that the action 
     succeeded, because the warrants had been received by the firm in the ordinary course of   business. 
  

  

 17.   Tower Cabinet Co Ltd v Ingram [1949] 2 KB 397; [1949] 1 All ER 1033 

     Mr. Ingram and Mr. Christmas were partners in a firm called `Merry's'. Ingram retired in    1947. Christmas promised to give notice to those dealing with the firm that Ingram had      ceased to be connected with it. No advertisement was published in the London Gazette,   but new notepaper was printed omitting Ingram's name. In 1948, Merry's ordered goods    from Tower Cabinet Co on a piece of old notepaper with Ingram's name on it and signed   by Christmas as `Manager'. Tower Cabinet Co had never before had dealings with      Merry's and knew nothing about them. The question was whether Ingram was liable. It 
     was held that Ingram was not liable for the following reasons: 

   (a) Ingram was not liable under section 14 of the Partnership Act 1890 because he had  never knowingly suffered himself to be represented as a partner. 

   (b) Ingram was not liable as an apparent partner under section 36(1). Lynskey, J said: "In   my reading of that subsection `apparent members' means members who are apparently  members to the person who is dealing with the firm, and they may be apparent either bythe fact that the customer has had dealings with them before, or because of the use of 
     their names on the notepaper, or from some other sign outside the door, or because the  customer has had some indirect information about them." 

    (c) In section 36(3) the words "not having been known to the person dealing with the firm  to be a partner" included apparent and dormant partners, provided they were not  known   to the person concerned to be a partner. The subsection operated immediately on   retirement, and could not be affected by what happened after retirement, unless there was    actual holding out. Ingram was thus protected from the effects of section 36(1) because  he had not been known to be a partner prior to his retirement. 
  

    

 18.   Court v Berlin [1897] 2 QB 396 

     Berlin was in partnership with two dormant partners. The firm retained Court as a  solicitor to recover a debt due to it. During the course of the proceedings the two dormant  partners retired. After the proceedings were completed Court sued Berlin and the two  retired partners for his fees. The dormant partners claimed that they were only liable for  costs incurred up to the date of retirement.   Held: They were fully liable - the contract entered into was a single continuing contract   to see the action through to the end. 
  

     19.   Munro v Stein 1961 SC 362 

     The proprietor of a dance hall, who was in need of cash, asked a builder if he would pay   him £100 and agree to go into the dance hall business in equal partnership with him. The  builder agreed. The following day, at the office of the proprietor's solicitor, £100 was   handed over by the builder in return for a receipt signed by the proprietor, which stated  that the parties wished to enter into a partnership and that the dance hall was to form part    of the assets of the partnership. Work was done on the dance hall, and business  commenced before any formal partnership agreement was executed. A week later the 
     original proprietor of the hall died. His heir-at-law contended that he alone had title to the     hall. He argued that there had been no partnership, and that, accordingly, the dance hall   had never become part of the partnership assets. It was held by the Lord Ordinary   (Wheatley) that an equal partnership had come into existence; that it was competent to   prove, by parole evidence, that the dance hall was the property of the partnership, and   that, on the evidence, it had been proved that the dance hall did belong to the partnership. 
  

     20.    Highley v Walker (1910) 26 TLR 685 

     Three partners carried on business as worsted spinners. Two of them wanted to introduce  the son of one of them, simply with a view to him learning the business. The third partner  objected to this. The question was whether the case fell within Rule 8 of section 24 of the Partnership Act 1890. It was held that this was an ordinary matter connected with the  partnership business and should be decided by a majority. 
  

     21.   Carmichael v Evans (1904) 1 Ch 486 

     Partners were carrying on business as general drapers. A clause in the partnership  agreement stated that there was a power to expel, by 6 days notice, in the event of a  partner "being addicted to notorious intemperance or immorality or other scandalous conduct detrimental to the partnership business" or for "flagrant breach of the duties of  a partner". One of the partners was convicted of travelling on the railway without a ticket. 
     Notice of expulsion was given to him. He applied to the court for an injunction to prevent  his expulsion. The court refused to interfere. Byrne, J said that it was one of the first   duties of a partner to be an honest man, not only in relation to his fellow-partners, but  also in relation to third persons, and that this should, at the least, constrain him to keep   clear of fraud bringing him within the arm of the criminal law. 
  

     22.   Blisset v Daniel (1835) 10 Hare 493 

     The majority of partners were attempting to use the expulsion clause in order to obtain  the expelled partner's share at a discount. It was held that the use of the power solely for  the benefit of the majority partners was an abuse and could not be permitted. 
  

     23.   Law v Law [1905] 1 Ch 140 

     William and James Law were partners in a woollen business in Yorkshire. William lived    in London and was effectively a sleeping partner. James bought William's share for     £21,000. William later discovered that the business was worth much more; his partner     had failed to disclose a number of assets to him. The Court of Appeal held that James had      a duty to disclose all material facts with reference to the assets, and William would be   able to have the contract of sale set aside. 
  

     24.   Pathirana v Pathirana [1967] 1 AC 233 

     R and A Pathirana were partners in a service station in Sri Lanka. The station actually 
     belonged to a company, which had appointed them as agents. R gave three months notice  terminating the partnership, then negotiated a new agreement with the company which  transferred the agency into his own name - he then continued to trade in the same way at  the same premises. 
     Held: A was entitled to a share in the profits from R's business. The agency agreement 
     was a partnership asset and R's use of it was a breach of fiduciary duty. 
  

     25.  Finlayson v Turnbull 1996 GWD 17-976 

     Finlayson was a solicitors’ firm of seven partners. Three of the partners left to set up a  new partnership, taking a large number of client files with them. 
 Held: This was a clear breach of fiduciary duty. The partners who left were liable to pay damages for loss of goodwill and loss of profit. 
  

     26.   Pillans Brothers v Pillans (1908) 16 SLT 611 (OH) 

     One of the partners in a business which manufactured nuts and bolts bought another nut  and bolt factory just four miles away and began to trade on his own account.   Held: He had to account to the partnership for the profits made in this business. 
  

     27.  Macleod v Dowling (1927) 43 TLR 655 

     When a partner died after his co-partner had sent him a notice of termination but before     he had received it, it was held that the partnership was terminated by death and not be    notice. Notice of termination did not come into effect until it had been received. 
  

     28.  William S. Gordon & Co Ltd v Mrs. Mary Thomson Partnership 1985 SLT 122 

    The partnership had leased two fields from the company. One of the partners them died and the company tried to recover possession of the fields on the ground that the partnership had been dissolved by the death, and this terminated the lease. The partnership agreement provided that, in the event of the death of a partner, the remaining 
     partners had two months to decide whether to carry on with the business or wind up the  partnership. They had in fact continued the business. It was held this provision was sufficient to amount to an agreement that a partner's death would not automatically dissolve the partnership. The lease was therefore not terminated. 
  

     29.   R v Kupfer (1915) 112 LT 1138 

     A partnership business was carried on by three partners, two of them being in Germany and one in London. War broke out between Great Britain and Germany on 4 August   1914. It was held that the declaration of war had the effect of dissolving the partnership by virtue of section 34 of the Partnership Act 1890. 
  

     30.   Thomson, Petitioner (1893) 1 SLT 59 

     A partner in a firm drew a cheque in the firm's name and then absconded with the money. The court granted an order of dissolution under section 35(d) of the Partnership Act 1890. 
  

     31.  Handyside v Campbell (1901) 17 TLR 623 

     A partner in a firm of stevedores and riggers applied for a dissolution on the ground that the partnership could only be carried on at a loss. The firm was in fact making a loss at the time of the application, but this was attributed by the other partners in part to the mismanagement of the plaintiff himself, and in part to his protracted absence from 
     business owing to illness. Farwell, J refused the application for dissolution. In order to bring the case within section 35(e) of the Partnership Act 1890, it was necessary to prove that there was a real practical impossibility that the business would make a profit in future. 
  

     32.  Tower Taxi Technology LLP v Stephen Richard Marsden and Simon Alan Smith 
     2005 WL 1534615 

     The partnership agreement between the members of Tower Taxi Technology LLP stated   that the purpose of the partnership business was to obtain rights to computer equipment 
     for installing video facilities in taxis. They entered into an agreement to buy software    from a company called Cab Vision Ltd. In 2004 the partnership had a major disagreement   with Cab Vision, which purported to terminate its agreement with the partnership in  January 2005. Soon after, there was dissent within the management board of TTT and  three board members, including Marsden and Smith, were removed from the board. M 
     and S then petitioned for the partnership to be wound up on just and equitable grounds,   on the basis that the substratum of the partnership business had gone when Cab Vision  terminated the software agreement. TTT then applied for the petition to be dismissed.  Held: An LLP could be wound up on just and equitable grounds and the winding-up  petition would have succeeded if the substratum of the business had actually gone. 
     However, there was evidence that negotiations were underway to revive the agreement     and the petition for winding up was dismissed. 

Section 4- The Law of Delict
Tutorial 5

Section A - Theory
1.
What do we mean by a ‘duty of care?’
2.
The standard of care which the law demands of the defender is set by the ‘reasonable man test’...what does this mean
Section B – Practical

4.
Rory was crossing the road, on his way to a business meeting which he expected would lead to a contract which would double the profits of his small printing business. He had checked the traffic before starting to cross, but was knocked down by a motorcycle ridden by Sandy Old who had suddenly come around a nearby corner at excessive speed. Sandy was flung from the bike in the accident and later died, while Rory was seriously injured. Fergus, who was walking down the pavement at the time and saw the accident, did his best to free Rory from the wreckage of the bike, and also to assist Sandy.
Rory spent several months in hospital recovering from her injuries. Not only did she miss her business meeting and lose the new contract, but she had been unable to carry on her existing business while she has been injured. Fergus has been very nervous and upset since he witnessed the accident; he has been unable to concentrate at work and has now lost his job. The accident has also had a profound effect on Mrs McMoan, an elderly widow who lives on the same street. She went to her window when she heard the crash and saw the ambulance taking away the victims, and later the blood being cleaned from the street. Since then she has been very depressed and refuses to leave her house.
Rory, Fergus and Mrs McMoan are all suing Sandy’s estate. Advise Sandy’s executor as to any potential liability.
5.
Mr Shark, who is in practice as an accountant, regularly prepares tax returns for Mr Gullible, for which he receives an annual fee. One morning, Gullible telephones Shark and asks his advice on how to invest a large sum of money he has just received from his aunt’s will. Shark is very busy at the time and after several phone calls from Gullible suggests in an off the cuff and sarcastic tone that Looney Developments would prove a very worthwhile investment. Gullible invests in the company without seeking further advice. In fact, the financial operations of Looney Developments have recently been criticised in the professional and financial press. The company went into liquidation shortly after Gullible made his investment and his money was lost.

Advise Mr Shark as to his possible liability.


6.
Jill works in an office block and travels to work in her car, which she parks in a lane at the back of the building. The outside of the building is being renovated and one day as she is getting into her car, a section of scaffold collapses and lands on the roof of Jill’s car, badly damaging it and slightly injuring Jill.
Jill wants to bring an action against the builders, but they insist that they took all reasonable care in erecting the scaffold and there is no apparent explanations of how the accident happened.


Advise Jill.

Section 4- The Law of Delict
Tutorial 6

Section A - Theory

1. What do we mean by the term Res Ipsa loquitur

2. What are the main defences in delict?

3. What are the main remedies available in the law of delict?

Section B – Practical

4. Robert, who had been drinking at the Moor and Maggot public house, was walking haphazardly across the road near a pelican crossing when he was knocked down by Duncan who was driving his new Golf Gti at a speed in excess of the speed limit for the road. An ambulance took Robert to hospital, where he was attended to by Paul, an inexperienced junior doctor.

Feeling a little out of his depth when faced with Robert’s injuries, Paul called Dr Dre, the hospitals top consultant. Paul described Robert’s injuries to Dr Dre, who was holding a dinner party and refused to come to the hospital. Dr Dre outlined the treatment to be given to Robert, but omitted to warn Paul to check that Robert was not allergic to the prescribed antibiotics. When Paul administered the antibiotics, Robert suffered a severe allergic reaction. Robert recovered, but is now paralysed down one side.

Advise Robert on his potential claims in negligence

5. Wilma and Fred decided to book a holiday at a holiday village on the shores of sunny Loch Lomond. Fred was keen to go there because he wanted to try out the very fast boat he had just bought, and Wilma was eager to try some water skiing.

On the third day of their holiday, having imbibed liberally at the local pup, Wilma urges Fred to take out the boat and let her water ski. Both are fairly inebriated, but they do manage to get the boat into the water and Wilma eventually struggles to stay upright on the skis.

Things are going quite well when Fred suddenly loses control of the boat and crashes it onto the shore. Wilma, being towed behind, is flung into some rocks and suffers a broken arm and other injuries. She is now suing Fred, claiming her injuries were the result of his negligent handling of the boat.

Advise Fred 
6. Sally ran a small hotel business in a large old house which she owned in Edinburgh. Two years ago, while digging up the road to lay cables, employees of Sillyvision Media ruptured a water main and the cellar of Sally’s house was badly flooded. The flooding damaged the building so that major building work was required and Sally moved out of the house to live with her sister in Glasgow while the work was being done. By the time the work was completed, Sally found a well-paid job in Glasgow and left the house empty and boarded up while she decided what to do with it.
A group of squatters, seeing the house was empty, moved in while Sally was away. One of them built a fire in one of the old fireplaces, not realising the chimney had bee blocked off. Sally’s house caught fire and burned down, causing considerable damage to the properties on either side. Sally is being sued by her former neighbours and she in turn is suing Sillyvision Media

Advise the parties whether either of these actions is likely to succeed.

7. Wallace works in the Glasgow area as a delivery driver for Grommet & Co. He is making a delivery to one of their customers when he sees a schoolboy trying to force the doors on the van. He rushes out and grabs the boy’s collar, then punches him so that he falls down, striking his head on the kerb. The boy has to be taken to hospital in an ambulance.
Wallace is so unnerved by this incident that, instead of continuing his deliveries, he goes to visit his girlfriend in Edinburgh for a couple of hours. He is making the return journey (in a hurry because he is running so late) when he swerves to avoid a dog and instead hits a cyclist, necessitating another ambulance.

By the time Wallace arrives back at Grommet’s depot, the place is locked and in darkness. Wallace is trying to force his way into the yard so that he can leave the van when he feels a hand on his shoulder. Thinking he is being attacked, he kicks out as hard as he can. In fact the man he has kicked is a security guard hired by Grommet to patrol the premises at night. The security guard has now sustained a broken knee.

Grommet & Co are now being sued by the schoolboy, the cyclist and the security guard.

Advise Grommet and Co

Section 4 -The Law of Delict

Important/Relevant Cases

 
  

     1.   Donoghue v Stevenson 1932 SC (HL) 31 

          Mrs. Donoghue found a decomposed snail in a bottle of ginger beer which had been 
         bought for her by a friend. She sued the manufacturer of the ginger beer in delict and he 
         argued that he owed her no duty of care. 
          Held: A manufacturer owes a duty of care to the ultimate consumer of his product. Lord 
         Atkin said: “You must take care to avoid acts or omissions which you can reasonably 
         foresee would be likely to injure your neighbour. Who then, in law, is my neighbour? The 
         answer seems to be persons who are so closely and directly affected by my act that I 
         ought reasonably to have had them in contemplation as being so affected when I am 
         directing my mind to the acts or omissions which are called in question.” 
  

     2.   Muir v Glasgow Corporation 1943 SC (HL) 3 

          It was held that the manageress of a tea room owed a general duty of care to those 
         entering the premises, but no duty of care to take precautions against them being injured 
         as a result of her giving permission for a Sunday School picnic to be held in the tea room. 
         There was no reason for her to anticipate that giving permission would result in children 
         being scalded by boiling water. 
  

     3.   Hughes v Lord Advocate 1963 SLT 150 (HL) 

          Two young children were injured when they dropped a paraffin lamp into an open 
         manhole. Both open manhole and lamp had been left unattended by the defenders. It was 
         held that, although the explosion was unforeseeable,  it was foreseeable that children 
         would be injured if an open manhole and a burning lamp were left unattended. There was 
         sufficient foreseeability to establish a duty of care. 
  

     4.   Bourhill v Young 1942 SC (HL) 78 

          Young was killed as a result of a collision caused by his careless driving. It was held that, 
         although he certainly owed a duty of care to avoid harming other road users, Mrs. 
         Bourhill, who was 50 feet away from the collision and did not actually see it, was not 
         within the ambit of this duty. Young’s executors were therefore not liable for the nervous 
         shock she suffered as a result of the accident. 

    

 5.  Alcock and Others v Chief Constable of South Yorkshire [1991] 4 All ER 907 (HL) 

          The action was brought by relatives of persons killed or injured at Hillsborough football 
         stadium, on the basis of “nervous shock”suffered as a result of the disaster. It was held 
         that, before there would be liability for causing nervous shock, certain criteria must be 
         fulfilled: 
               (a)  It had to be reasonably foreseeable that the plaintiff would suffer nervous shock. 
                    This would arise where there were close ties of affection between the plaintiff and 
                    the victim. 
               (b)  The plaintiff must have been within sight or hearing of the event or its immediate 
                      aftermath. Identifying a dead friend or relative 8 hours later, or watching the 
                      events on television was not sufficient in this case. 
  

     6.   Robertson v Forth Road Bridge Joint Board  1994 SLT 566 

          Two workers suffered psychiatric trauma when they witnessed the death of a fellow 
         worker which was caused by the negligence of their mutual employer. Held: No duty of 
         care was owed to the two workers in this instance. The relationship between them and the 
         worker who was killed was not sufficiently close for the nervous shock to be foreseeable. 
  

     7.   McFarlane v E Caledonia Ltd [1994] 2 All ER 1 

          A worker on the Piper Alpha oil rig, who was on a support vessel 550 metres away from 
         the rig when it exploded, claimed against the owners of the rig for the psychiatric illness 
         he had suffered as a result of what he had seen. Held: McFarlane was not in any actual 
         danger or fears for his own safety. He was not within the range of foreseeability and no 
         duty of care was owed to him. 
  

     8.   Spartan Steel and Alloys Ltd v Martin & Co Ltd [1973] 1 QB 27 

          Builders were sued for damages arising out of damage to a power cable which interrupted 
         the power supply to a factory. Held: Damage to metal in the furnace at the time the cable 
         was damaged was recoverable. Loss of profit through processing time lost while cable 
         was being repaired was not recoverable - this was pure economic loss and no duty of care 
         was owed in respect of this. 
  

     9.   Hedley Byrne & Co v Heller & Partners [1964] AC 465 

          The plaintiffs sought damages for losses incurred because of a negligent credit reference 
         given by the defendant bank. Held: Although in the particular case the bank had no 
         liability because it had expressly excluded liability for the reference, in the absence of a 
         disclaimer, a bank owed a duty of care to ensure that information was accurate. 

    10.  Martin v Bell-Ingram 1986 SLT 575 

          A surveyor employed by a building society to carry out a valuation on a house negligently 
         missed the existence of faults in the foundations. The house purchaser was forced to spend  considerable sums to remedy the defect. Held: The surveyor was liable to the house 
         purchaser for his negligence. He knew his report would be seen by the purchaser and 
         relied on by him in deciding whether to purchase the house. 
  

  11. Caparo Industries plc v Dickman [1990] 2 WLR 358 

         In deciding whether to make a takeover bid for a company, the plaintiff relied on accounts 
         prepared by the company’s auditors, which turned out to be erroneous. It was admitted 
         the auditors had been negligent in their preparation of the accounts, but it was held that 
         their duty of care was owed to the company only, and not individual existing or 
         prospective shareholders. 
  

 12.  D&F Estates v Church Commissioners for England [1988] 3 WLR 368 

          Leaseholders sued to recover the expense of repairing defective plasterwork which had 
         been done 17 years earlier. Held: Although plaster had been negligently applied, the cost 
         of repairing and replacing the defective plaster was pure economic loss and not 
         recoverable. 
  

 13.  Murphy v Brentwood District Council [1990] 3 WLR 414 

          A local authority was sued when the foundations of a house, built to plans approved by 
         the local authority, proved to be defective. Because of the defect, the owner had to sell 
         the house at considerably less than its value if it had been sound. Held: The Council did 
         not owe a duty of care to prevent this kind of economic loss, so the loss could not be 
         recovered under the law of delict. 
  

 14.  Junior Books v Veitchi Co 1982 SLT 492 

          Veitchi, a flooring specialist, was a nominated sub-contractor under a contract between 
         Junior Books and Ogilvie Builders to construct a new factory. The floor was defective and 
         had to be replaced. Junior Books claimed in delict against Veitchi for the cost of this 
         replacement.  Held: The claim would be allowed even though the loss was purely 
         economic. There was a special proximity between the parties which brought about a duty 
         of care. 
  

 

 15.  Waugh v James K Allan Ltd 1964 SC (HL) 102 

          A lorry driver who injured a pedestrian after suffering a heart attack while driving was 
         held not to have breached the duty of care he owed to the pedestrian. His act was 
         involuntary and he had no reason to suspect he was seriously ill. 
  

  16.  Nettleship v Weston [1971] 2 QB 691 

          A learner driver failed to straighten the steering wheel after turning a corner and ran into 
         a lamp post, damaging the post and injuring her driving instructor. Held: She was liable 
         for both the damage and the instructor’s injury. A learner driver is expected to show the 
         same standard of care as any other driver. 
  

   17.  Bolton v Stone [1951] AC 850 

          The plaintiff was injured when a cricket ball was hit out of the grounds. This had 
         happened only 6 times in 30 years and no-one had been injured before. Held: There was 
         no negligence in failing to take precautions against this. The risk was so slight that any 
         reasonable person in the same position would have felt justified in ignoring it. 
  

   18.  Paris v Stepney Borough Council [1951] AC 367 

          The plaintiff was a mechanic employed by the Council. His employers knew he was blind 
         in one eye. A chip of metal flew into his good eye, leaving him totally blind. He claimed 
         his employers were negligent in not supplying him with goggles. They brought evidence 
         showing this was not usual practice in the trade. Held: Because the magnitude of the risk 
         was greater in this particular case, the employers were negligent in not providing goggles 
         for this particular employee. 
  

   19.  Watt v Hertfordshire County Council [1954] 1 WLR 835 

          A fireman was injured when a heavy jack shifted while being carried in a lorry not 
         especially equipped to carry it. The fire service was on its way to rescue a woman trapped 
         under a car. It was held that the fire authority was not negligent because the risk to the 
         fireman was not so great as to prohibit the attempt to save a life. 
  


   20.  Latimer v AEC Ltd [1953] AC 643 

          The defendant’s factory was flooded after exceptionally heavy rain, leaving the floor 
         slippery. The defendant’s swept the floor and put down sawdust, but the plaintiff was 
         injured when he slipped on an untreated part of the floor. He claimed the defendant was 
         negligent in not closing the factory. Held: The employer had done all that could 
         reasonably be expected. The risk of injury as not so great as to justify the expense of 
         closing down the factory. 
  

   21.  Hunter v Hanley 1955 SC 200 

          A hypodermic needle broke while the pursuer was being given an injection. She claimed 
         the doctor was negligent in using the wrong type of needle. Lord Clyde said: “To establish 
         liability by the doctor where deviation from normal practice is alleged, three facts require 
         to be established. First of all it must be proved there is a usual and normal practice; 
         secondly it must be proved that the defender has not adopted that practice; and thirdly 
         (and this is of crucial importance) it must be established that the course the doctor 
         adopted is one which no professional man of ordinary skill would have taken if he had 
         been acting with ordinary care. There is clearly a heavy onus upon a pursuer to establish 
         these three facts, and without all three his case will fail.” 

  
    22.  Scott v London and St Catherine Docks Co [1861-73] All ER 246 

         The plaintiff proved that six bags of sugar fell on him while he was passing under a crane, 
         but was unable to show how the accident had happened. Erle CJ held that: “There must 
         be reasonable evidence of negligence. But where the thing is shown to be under the 
         management of the defendant or his servants, and the accident is such that in the normal 
         course of things does not happen if those who have the management use proper care, it 
         affords reasonable evidence in the absence of explanation by the defendants, that the 
         accident arose from want of care.” 
  

    23.  Easson v London & North East Railway [1944] KB 421 

          A child fell from an open door on a train. There was no evidence of how the door came 
         to be open. Held: The plaintiffs could not rely on res ipsa loquitur. Although the accident 
         could have been the fault of the railway, the door could also have been interfered with by 
         a third party. 
  

   24.  Barnett v Chelsea and Kensington Hospital [1969] 1 QB 428 

          A man who vomited for three hours after drinking a cup of tea called at the casualty 
         department of the defendant hospital. The doctor refused to see him and several hours 
         later the man died of arsenic poisoning. Held: The doctor was in breach of his duty of 
         care, but this was not a cause of the death; the man would have died even if he had been 
         treated by the hospital. 
  

  25.  Kay v Ayrshire and Arran Health Board 1987 SLT (HL) 577 

          A child suffering from meningitis was given a massive overdose of penicillin. On recovery 
         he was found to be deaf. There was no evidence of a penicillin overdose ever causing 
         deafness, but many cases of deafness caused by meningitis. The House of Lords held that 
         the pursuer had absolutely failed to prove causation and found the Health Board not liable. 
  

  26.  McWilliams v Arrol 1962 SC (HL) 70 

          A steel erector fell to his death because he was not wearing a safety harness. His 
         employers were negligent in failing to supply harnesses. Evidence put before the court 
         conclusively showed that the deceased would not have worn a harness even if one had 
         been available. Held: There was no proof of a causal connection between the breach of 
         duty and the death. The employers were not liable. 
  

  27.  Wardlaw v Bonnington Castings 1956 SC (HL) 26 

          The pursuer contracted pneumoconiosis from inhaling dust at work. There were two 
         sources of the dust, only one of which was preventable. The defenders were not in breach 
         of duty in their failure to protect the pursuer from the dust which could not be prevented, 
         and it was not known which source of dust was the cause of the illness. Held: The 
         defender would be liable if the breach of duty had materially contributed to the pursuer’s 
         injury. In this case the court considered that it had, and the pursuer succeeded in his claim 
         for damages. 
  

  28.  Sayers v Harlow Urban District Council [1958] 2 All ER 342 

          A woman who was trapped in a public toilet because of the defendant’s breach of duty 
         was injured when she tried to climb out. Held: It was foreseeable that someone in her 
         position would try to escape, therefore this did not amount to novus actus interveniens. 
  

  29.  McKew v Holland, Hannen & Cubitts (Scotland) Ltd 1970 SLT 68 

          The defenders negligently injured the pursuer’s left leg, which was then liable to give way 
         without warning. Some days later, the pursuer was descending steep stairs when his leg 
         gave way. He then jumped down to the next landing and fractured his right leg. Held: The 
         defenders were not liable for the injury to the right leg, because the pursuer’s conduct was 
         unreasonable and constituted a novus actus interveniens. 
  

 

30.  Donaghy v National Coal Board 1957 SLT (Notes) 35 

          The pursuer took home a detonator which his employers had negligently left lying around 
         his place of work. It exploded when he hit it with a hammer and he was injured. Held: The 
         Coal Board was not liable. The pursuer’s actions were novus actus interveniens. 
  

 31.  Overseas Tankship (UK) Ltd v Mort Docks & Engineering Co (The Wagon Mound 
         No 1) 1961 AC 388 

          Oil was negligently spilled from the Wagon Mound and was carried to where the plaintiffs 
         were welding. Molten metal set alight a piece of cotton waste which in turn set fire to the 
         oil. The fire damaged the plaintiff’s wharf. Held: The damage caused by the fire was 
         unforeseeable and therefore too remote to be recovered. 
  

 32.  Campbell v Moffat (Transport) Ltd 1992 SLT 962 

          The pursuer was forced to give up his job as a result of injuries sustained in a road 
         accident. Two years later the mill closed and those still working in it at the time were 
         given an ex gratia redundancy payment. In his action for damages with regard to the road 
         accident, the pursuer claimed for the loss of the redundancy payment. Held: Though this 
         loss was not foreseeable, it was not so speculative that it could not be regarded as a 
         natural and direct consequence of the accident. 
  

 33.  Smith v Leech Brain & Co [1961] 2 QB 405 

          Smith was injured at work owing to his employer’s negligence. The injury induced a 
         cancer from which he later died. It was held that his employers were liable for his death, 
         even though this was not a foreseeable consequence of the injury. 
  

 34.  Anderson v St Andrews Ambulance Association 1943 SC 248 

          A passenger on a bus was injured when the bus collided with an ambulance. Both bus 
         driver and ambulance driver were held to be responsible for the accident. They were 
         jointly liable as both had contributed materially to the pursuer’s injury. 
  

 35.  Barnes v Flucker 1985 SLT 142 

          Two five year olds who ran into the path of a car and caused an accident were held to be 
         responsible for the accident. (The Scottish Law Commission has recommended that 
         liability for delict should not attach to a child under the age of 12). 
  

 36.  Newton v Edgerley 1959 1 WLR 1031 

          A twelve year old boy injured another boy with a shotgun given to him by his father. It 
         was held that the father was personally liable for the injuries, as he had breached his duty 
         of care to exercise adequate supervision over his son’s use of the gun. 
  

  37.  Marshall v William Sharpe & Sons 1991 SLT 114 

          An electrician who was employed by Sharpe as an independent contractor at an hourly 
         rate carelessly injured one of Sharpe’s employees. It was held that the electrician was an 
         independent contractor, but that Sharpe was vicariously liable for his negligence because 
         the degree of control which Sharpe exercised over him made the relationship similar to 
         that subsisting in  an employment relationship. 
  

  38.  Mersey Docks and Harbour Board v Coggins & Griffith Ltd  [1947] AC 1 

          The defendant hired a crane and operator from Mersey Docks under a contract which 
         stated that the crane operator was to be regarded as an employee of the defendant. The 
         crane operator negligently injured another of Coggins & Griffith’s employees and the 
         question arose as to which “employer” was liable for his actions. Held: Liability was not 
         to be determined by the contract between the parties. Mersey Docks was the employer 
         and would remain liable unless they could show that full control over the crane operator 
         had passed to the defendant. This they had failed to do. 

  39.  Rose v Plenty [1976] 1 All ER 97 

          A milk float driver who knew he was not allowed to have children help him with his round 
         employed a thirteen year old boy, who was injured by the milkman’s negligence. The dairy 
         argued that the milkman was acting outside the course of his employment so that they 
         were not liable for the injuries. Held: The milkman was engaged in his employment and 
         the accident occurred within the scope of his employment. The dairy was vicariously 
         liable. 
  

 40.  Century Insurance v Northern Ireland Transport Board [1942] AC 509 

          While delivering petrol, an employee lit a cigarette and threw the match away, causing an 
         explosion and fire. It was held that, although smoking was not part of his employment, he 
         was still acting within the scope of his employment when he caused the damage. His 
         employers were liable. 
  

 41.  Raynor v Mitchell (1877) 2 CPD 257 

          A brewery worker who took his employer’s van without permission and used it for private 
         purposes was not acting within the scope of his employment even though he picked up 
         some empty barrels on his way to return the van. His employers were not liable for injuries 
         he caused when driving the van. 
  

 42.  Angus v Glasgow Corporation 1977 SLT 206 

          A driver who deviated from his route to collect his spare spectacles from his home when 
         his usual pair had broken was held involved in an accident. Held: He was still acting within 
         the scope of his employment. A driver remains within the scope of his employment unless 
         he can be regarded as having severed all connections with his employer’s business. 
  

 43.  Poland v John Parr & Sons [1927] 1 KB 236 

         A van driver who assaulted a boy he thought was stealing from his employer’s van was 
         held to be acting within the course of his employment because he was acting to protect 
         his employer’s property. The employer was thus vicariously liable for the assault. 
  

  44.  Warren v Henly’s Ltd [1958] 2 All ER 935 

          A petrol station attendant became abusive to the plaintiff when he thought he was going 
         to leave without paying for petrol. After the plaintiff had paid, the attendant struck him. 
         Held: The attendant’s employer was not liable for this assault, as it was not within the 
         scope of the employment. The employee’s duty to his employer ceased once the plaintiff 
         had paid for the petrol. 
  

 45.  Lister v Romford Ice and Cold Storage Co [1957] AC 555 

          Lister, a driver, injured another employee (his father) when carelessly reversing a lorry. 
         The company’s insurers paid damages to the father and sought to recover the amount paid          from the son. It was held they were entitled to do so. 
  

 46.  Caledonian Railway Co v Greenock Corporation 1917 SC (HL) 56 

          Heavy rain caused a pool created by the defenders to flood, damaging the pursuer’s 
         property. The defenders claimed, inter alia, that the exceptional nature of the rain 
         amounted to damnum fatale, and that they were not to blame. 
         Held: Although the rain had been unusually heavy, heavy rain was not so unusual in 
         Scotland as to amount to an unforeseeable event. 
  

 47.  Morris v Murray [1991] 2 QB 6 

          A pilot killed himself and seriously injured his passenger (the plaintiff) when he crashed 
         his light aircraft. The pilot had been drinking heavily and the plaintiff knew this when he 
         went for the flight. The plaintiff failed in his action against the deceased pilot’s estate. He 
         was aware of the risk he was taking and the defence of volenti non fit injuria applied. 
  

 48.  ICI v Shatwell [1965] AC 656 

          Two brothers, both experienced shotfirers, agreed to test detonators without obeying 
         safety regulations imposed by their employers. Both were injured when one of the 
         detonators exploded. One of the brothers sued their employer on the basis that ICI were 
         vicariously liable for injuries caused to him by the negligence of his fellow worker. 
         Held: ICI were not liable. Shatwell had voluntarily consented to a risk of which he was 
         well aware. 
  
 49.  Baker v T E Hopkins & Sons Ltd [1959] 1 WLR 966 

          A doctor who entered a well containing poisonous fumes to rescue two comatose workers 
         died when the rope by which he was lowered caught on an obstruction. His widow sued 
         the employer of the two workers, who claimed the doctor had assumed the risk of going 
         down the well. Held: The defence of volenti non fit injuria did not apply in cases where 
         someone assumes a risk in an emergency rescue situation. 
  

  50.  Cork v Kirkby Maclean [1952] 2 All ER 402 

          A worker who, unknown to his employers, suffered from epilepsy and was not supposed 
         to work at heights, was injured falling from a platform during a seizure. His employers 
         were found to be negligent in not fitting a guard rail to the platform, but the worker was 
         found to be 50% responsible for his own injuries and damages were reduced by that 
         amount. 
  

  51.  Froom v Butcher [1975] 3 All ER 520 

          A motorist injured in a road accident for which he was in no way to blame was found to 
         have contributed to his own injuries by his failure to wear a seat belt. Damages were 
         reduced by 15%. 


  52.  Weir v Wyper 1992 SLT 579 

          The pursuer was injured when the car in which she was a passenger was involved in a 
         collision. She had agreed to ride in the car even though she knew the driver only had a 
         provisional licence. It was held that she was not barred from recovering damages by the 
         fact that she was involved in illegal activity. The defence would not always operate as an 
         absolute bar to damages. (Though any damages could be reduced on the grounds of 
         contributory negligence.) 
  

  53.  Pitts v Hunt [1991] 1 QB 24 

          The plaintiff  was a pillion passenger on a motorcycle which was being ridden recklessly 
         when it collided with a car. Evidence showed that the plaintiff had been encouraging the 
         driver to ride recklessly and to intimidate other road users. His claim for damages was 
         disallowed because he had been involved in the illegal activity. 
  

  54.  Behrens v Bertram Mills Circus [1957] 2 QB 1 

         A circus elephant which was frightened by a dog injured two people. Although there was 
         no evidence of a failure to take reasonable care, it was held that the failure of the keeper 
         to control the elephant was sufficient to establish liability, which was strict. 
  

  55.  McQuaker v Goddard  1940 1 KB 662 

          A visitor to a zoo was injured when bitten by a camel. There was no want of care on the 
         part of the zoo, but it was questioned whether the camel came within the category of 
         animals for which there was strict liability. Evidence was led to show that the camel was 
         one of the earliest domestic animals. 
  

  56.  Miller v Jackson [1977] QB 966 

          Cricket balls were regularly hit out of a cricket ground into the plaintiff’s garden, causing 
         damage. It was held that this amounted to a nuisance. (Contrast with Bolton v Stone 
         (Case 17)). 
  

  57.  Cumnock & Doon Valley District Council v Dance Energy Associates 1992 GWD 25- 
         1441 
          A rave which was being held in an isolated location did not constitute a nuisance because 
         it was a one-off event. 
  

  58.  Webster v Lord Advocate 1985 SLT 361 

          The pursuer, who owned a flat near Edinburgh Castle, claimed that the noise from the 
         Edinburgh Tattoo and the ancillary work associated with it constituted a nuisance. It was 
         held that, though the Tattoo itself did not constitute a nuisance, the associated work did. 
         It made no difference to the pursuer’s action that the Tattoo had been held for many years 
         before she purchased the flat. 
  

 59.  RHM Bakeries (Scotland) v Strathclyde Regional Council 1985 SLT 214 

          The bakery was flooded after the collapse of a sewer which it was the defender’s 
         responsibility to maintain. The pursuers claimed that the defender’s failure to maintain the 
         sewer constituted a nuisance for which they were strictly liable. 
         The court was not convinced that the failure to maintain the sewer could be regarded as 
         a nuisance, but even if it was, the bakery must aver and prove negligence in order to 
         maintain an action for damages. 
  

  60.  Kerr v Earl of Orkney (1857) 20 D 298 

          The defender built a dam which burst some months later. The resulting flood destroyed 
         the pursuer’s house and mill. The defender denied any negligence in the construction of 
         the dam. The Court held that, irrespective of fault, anyone who makes something on his 
         land has to provide for the security of all who are likely to be affected by it. 
  

  61.  Rylands v Fletcher 1868 LR 3 HL 330 

          A reservoir on the defendant’s land, built by independent contractors, flooded the 
         plaintiff’s coal mine. The defendant had not been negligent, but he was held liable for the 
         damage. The House of Lords held that where there had been non-natural use of land, , as 
         a result of which there was an escape of something likely to cause damage, liability was 
         absolute, no matter what precautions had been taken. 
  

 62.  AB v South West Water Services Ltd [1993] 2 WLR 506 

          Tap water in an area of Cornwall was polluted by aluminium sulphate. The plaintiffs 
         claimed, inter alia, that the water company was liable as the producer of a defective 
         product under Part I of the Consumer Protection Act 1987. Although the case was 
         eventually decided on other grounds, the court accepted that water was a “product” 
         within the meaning of the 1987 Act. 
  


 63.  Telfer v Glasgow District Council 1974 SLT (Notes) 51 

          When a person was injured in a derelict building which was in the process of being sold, 
         it was held that the “occupier” was the party in de-facto control; in this case the person 
         who had possession of the keys and the power to permit or refuse entry to the premises. 
  

  64.  Titchener v British Railways Board 1984 SLT 192 

          A teenage girl was seriously injured when she was hit by a train while taking a short cut 
         over a railway line. The line was fenced but there were gaps in the fence and she claimed 
         the defenders were liable under the Occupiers Liability (Scotland)Act 1960 because they 
         had failed to maintain the fence. Held: The existence of the fence, even in bad repair, was 
         sufficient warning to a girl of 15 who knew the line was there and was aware of the 
         danger posed by the trains. 
  

  65.  English v Wilsons & Clyde Coal Co 1937 SC (HL) 46 

          The pursuer was injured by a train of coal hutches when walking from his work place to 
         the pit bottom. The scope of an employer’s duty of care was stated to be: 
          “To take reasonable care and to use reasonable skill, first, to provide and maintain 
         proper plant, appliances and works; secondly, to select properly skilled persons to 
         manage and superintend the business; and thirdly, to provide a proper system of 
         working.” 
         It was also held that this duty was personal to the employer and he could not discharge 
         it by delegating the responsibility to someone else. 
  

 66.  Machray v Stewarts & Lloyds Ltd [1963] All ER 716 

          An employee was injured when lifting steel pipes to a height of 70 feet using a rope block 
         and tackle. It was held that his employer was liable for failing to provide the proper 
         equipment for the job. 
  

 67.  Hudson v Ridge Manufacturing [1957] 2 QB 348 

          An employee who had been repeatedly warned about his behaviour tripped another 
         employee and injured him. The employer was held liable to the injured employee because 
         he had failed to provide competent fellow-workers. 
  

 68.  Smith v Crossley Bros Ltd [1951] 95 SJ 655 

          An employer was held not to be liable to an apprentice injured when he was subjected to 
         “initiation rites” by his co-workers. The employer did not know and had no reason to 
         suspect that there was the risk of such an incident occurring. 
  

  69.  Russell v Motherwell Bridge Fabricators Ltd 1992 GWD 14-827 

          An employee was injured when he fell from a ladder which he put the wrong way up. The 
         pursuer had also told another worker who was holding the foot of the ladder to move 
         away. It was held that the employer was not in breach of his duty to provide a safe system 
         of working. 

